
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Candida Basilio, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Tel: 07895 213820 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



  2 

 



South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 
Joint Scrutiny Committee agenda - Thursday, 20 October 2022 

 Page 1 

Agenda 

 
Contact: Candida Basilio, Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone 07895 213820 
Email: candida.basilio@southandvale.gov.uk  
Date: 3 October 2022 
www.southoxon.gov.uk 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

 

A meeting of the  

Joint Scrutiny Committee 

will be held on Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 6.30 pm  
In person at Abbey House, Abingdon OX14 3JE 
 
The meeting will be streamed live at the following link: 
https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 
Councillors 
South Vale 
Ian White (co-chair) Nathan Boyd (Chairing the meeting) 
Jo Robb Andy Cooke 
Stefan Gawrysiak Amos Duveen 
Kate Gregory Cheryl Briggs 
David Turner David Grant 
 
Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include large 
print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special requirements 
(such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this agenda.  Please 
give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 
 

Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Page 3

Agenda Annex

mailto:candida.basilio@southandvale.gov.uk
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings


South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 
Joint Scrutiny Committee agenda - Thursday, 20 October 2022 

 Page 2 

 

Agenda 

 

Open to the Public including the Press 
 
1. Apologies for absence  
  
  
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   
 

2. Urgent business and chair's announcements  
  
  
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.   
 

3. Declaration of interests  
  
  
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests and 
non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the agenda for 
this meeting.  
 

4. Minutes  
(Pages 4 - 6)  
  
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Joint Scrutiny Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on 20 June 2022.  
 

5. Public participation  
  
  
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered to 
speak.   
 

6. Work schedule and dates for Joint scrutiny meetings  
  
  
To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are 
confirmed, the items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to or 
rearranged without further notice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Annex



South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 
Joint Scrutiny Committee agenda - Thursday, 20 October 2022 

 Page 3 

REPORTS AND OTHER ITEMS BROUGHT BEFORE THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
FOR ITS CONSIDERATION  
 

7. Saba car park contract performance 2021-22  
(Pages 7 - 22)  
  
For Joint Scrutiny Committee to consider Saba’s performance in delivering the car park operations 
contract for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 and make any comments before a final 
assessment on performance is made. 

 

8. Biffa waste contract performance 2021  
(Pages 23 - 44)  
  
The Joint Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider Biffa Municipal Ltd (Biffa) performance in 
delivering the household waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary services contract for the 
period 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (2021 calendar year) and make any comments before 
a final assessment on performance is made.  

 

9. GLL (Leisure) annual performance reports 2019 to 2022  
(Pages 45 - 120)  
  
Joint Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider Greenwich Leisure Limited’s (GLL) performance in 
delivering the joint leisure management contract for the periods 2019-2020, 2020-2021 and 2021-
2022 and provide any comments to Cabinet members. 

 

10. Exclusion of the public  
  
  
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and  
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.   
 

Page 5

Agenda Annex



South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council – Joint Scrutiny Committee minutes  

Monday, 20 June 2022  Sc.1 

 

 
 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Joint Scrutiny Committee 

 

held on Monday, 20 June 2022 at 6.00 pm 
at the 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park OX14 4SB  
 
 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present in the meeting room:  
Members:  
South Oxfordshire District Councillors: Ian White (Co chair, chairing), Kate Gregory, Jo 
Robb, David Turner 
Vale of White Horse District Councillors: Andy Cooke, David Grant and Ben Mabbett 
(Substitute member)  
 

Officers:   
Adrianna Partridge, Deputy Chief Executive for Operations and Transformation (Scrutiny 
lead officer) and Candida Mckelvey, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Also present:  Councillor Sue Cooper as a guest. 
 
Remote attendance: 
Marta Bou-Fernandez, Jake Bassett, Adrian Duffield, Head of Planning, Harry Barrington-
Mountford, Head of Policy and Programmes. 
 
Cabinet members: Councillors Anne-Marie Simpson (South - Planning) and Debby Hallett 
(Vale – Planning Policy) 
 

 
 

Sc.1 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Nathan Boyd and Cheryl Briggs. Nathan Boyd was 
substituted by Councillor Ben Mabbett for this meeting. 

 

Sc.2 Minutes  
 
The minutes from the meeting held on 24 January 2022 were reviewed by committee members 
and no comments were raised. 

 

Sc.3 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4

Page 6

Agenda Annex



South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council – Joint Scrutiny Committee minutes  

Monday, 20 June 2022  Sc.2 

 

Sc.4 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
None. 

 

Sc.5 Public participation  
 
There were no public speakers, however chair notified committee members that Councillor Sue 
Cooper, Cabinet Member for Environment, wished to address the committee and would do so 
under the Joint Design Guide item. 

 

Sc.6 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny meetings  
 
No comments raised. Members were encouraged to email the chair if they have any amends or 
additions to the work programme. 

 

Sc.7 Joint Design Guide  
 
Councillor Sue Cooper addressed the committee, as she was Cabinet Member for Climate, she 
wanted to share some thoughts. In summary, she felt that the guide was very good and was in 
support of it, but had some comments as follows: 

 The new version circulated was an improvement 

 Climate and sustainability section was good, and we should consider this for extensions. It 
was felt some statements appear to contradict climate change and sustainability principles, 
particularly the figures 43 to 46. 

 Energy inefficient outside walls should be covered during extensions if they lose heat. The 
diagram labelled red (simple build, covers the old wall) would be more sustainable and 
efficient. Would rather a plain functional extension rather than a more complex build with 
smaller, multiple joins. 

 Questioned why there was a requirement for a setback by a third. 

 Cabinet member considered that the guide and its updates were a great improvement. 
 
This item was introduced by Cabinet Member for Planning (South), Councillor Anne-Marie 
Simpson. Also supporting the item was Cabinet Member for Planning Policy (Vale), Councillor 
Debby Hallett. Officers Jake Bassett and Marta Bou-Fernandez were present to answer technical 
questions, along with Head of Planning, Adrian Duffield. 
 
Cabinet member for Planning (South) explained that the design guide was intended to support high 
quality development for both districts, containing advice and giving clarity on sustainable design, 
and supporting our corporate priorities on climate emergency. It was a Supplementary Planning 
Document, produced in-house by the hard work of officers, and will support decision making for 
planning applications. It will have greater accessibility with its online format. The external 
consultation had led to amendments and then some further minor amendments as presented. 
Councillors had been directed to view those amendments by comparison of the old and new 
website links. Thanks were given to the Joint Design Guide working group for their input. 
Cabinet member for Vale added that she was excited about this document and felt it was an 
exemplar piece of work. Working together on this planning document paves the way for further joint 
working. Central Government changes in planning policy could lead to a further review of the 
design guide in future and strengthening of climate emergency targets. 
 
The committee asked questions and made comments, of which the main points are summarised 
below. 
 

 Discussion was had about the amended diagram figures 43 and 44. Officers would check 
these to ensure they were correctly labelled. Regarding the guidance on suitable home 

Page 5 Page 7

Agenda Annex



South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council – Joint Scrutiny Committee minutes  

Monday, 20 June 2022  Sc.3 

extensions (coded red for not likely acceptable, amber and green for acceptable in 
principle), some members queried whether this should be so prescriptive. Officers 
responded to this, explaining that the figures were to give guidance and all planning 
applications are assessed on their own merits, but they needed to be sympathetic to local 
character and the original dwelling (well established design principles, as in the NPPF and 
national Design Code). Permitted development was the figure labelled in green. The other 
coloured diagrams show examples where permission would likely be required. 

 Some members of the committee expressed that there was some difficulty cross 
referencing the guide that was to be published online. Difficult to search keywords through 
the whole document. After discussion officers did offer a solution of providing a plain text 
version that could be searched, but once a document was agreed by Cabinet, the full 
functionality of our website including a search function would be available. 

 The committee agreed that the Joint Design Guide was a very good piece of work and 
thanked the officers involved. 

 A member felt that the colour scheme of the document was not always ideal for ease of 
reading. Officer explained that the document was made to meet the requirements of 
accessibility guidance for web design. 

 Officer advised that they could add a sentence into the guide regarding the suggestion to 
include underground parking (where viable) for residential property development. A 
member questioned car club schemes and the Head of Planning confirmed that this can be 
secured under Section 106. 

 A committee member wanted to see strengthening of using hedgerows / soft boundary 
treatments, as these should be as important as trees. Another idea was to add advice for 
householders on ways to support ‘dark skies’ ( darksky.org, avoiding artificial lights to 
support nature). 

 Identified some link errors at the beginning of the guide – officers to check. 

 A member of the committee asked for strengthened wording, noting that the word ensure 
was less common and replaced with “if you are considering”. Suggested wording was “in 
order to make your house more sustainable”. This was discussed and officers did agree 
with the desire to strengthen wording, however national policy does not back up stronger 
wording – at this stage, we can only encourage. If we make demands where there was no 
policy to back up the stronger requests, there could be judicial reviews and appeals as a 
result, which we could lose (wasting officer time and work). The development of a new Joint 
Local Plan should assist this strengthening in future, and at that stage we would also 
update the Joint Design Guide. Overall, the aim was to encourage, and we hope for a shift 
in national policy to support strengthened wording in our guidance. Our guidance needed to 
link to our currently adopted local plans. Planning reforms may help in the future to 
strengthen the planning weight used in decision making. 

 Can there be more detail on what was meant by permitted development? 

 Request to make weblinks on the document a different, more stand-out colour. 

 A member asked officers to check inconsistency on distances – ‘no more than 1 metre’ on 
figures and ‘no more than 1.2 metres’ in the body text. 

 Solar and wind renewable energy in AONBs was suggested for the guide. Officers 
reminded that this was guidance, but the Joint Local Plan will help strengthen this. There 
was high level mention of renewable energy in the guide, under the header ‘Natural 
features and resources’.  

 
 
Chair concluded the meeting by summarising the key points made: 
1. creating a searchable document online – officers had offered a solution 
2. a link to permitted development information requested 
3. Hedge and soft boundary treatments and information on Dark Skies 
4. Look into word strengthening where it was deemed viable to do so. 
 
Officers and Cabinet Members were thanked, along with officers supporting the management of 
the meeting. 

Page 6 Page 8

Agenda Annex



 

1 

 

Joint Scrutiny Committee Report  

  
Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

 

Author: Adrian Lear 

Tel: 07801 203503 

E-mail: Adrian.Lear@southandvale.gov.uk 

Vale Cabinet Member responsible: Sally Povolotsky        South Cabinet Member responsible: Sue Cooper 

Tel: 07939 912997                                                             Tel: 07717 274703 

E-mail: sally.povolotsky@whitehorsedc.gov.uk                 E-mail: sue.cooper@southoxon.gov.uk 

To: JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

DATE: 3 October 2022 

Performance review of Saba (Car Park 

Operators) 2021 - 2022 

RECOMMENDATION 
That scrutiny committee considers Saba’s performance in delivering the car park 
operations contract for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 and makes any 
comments before a final assessment on performance is made. 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. To ask scrutiny committee for its views on the performance of Saba in 
providing the car park operations services to the Vale of White Horse and 
South Oxfordshire District Councils for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2022.  

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

2. The service contributes to both Councils Corporate Plan 2020-2024. In the 
Vale’s corporate plan, it assists in delivering strategic objective four - Building 
stable finances. The car park management contract assists in managing the 
council’s resources responsibly and make effective use of the council’s assets. 
In South’s corporate plan, strategic objective six Investment and innovation 
that rebuilds our financial viability, the contract assists the council in meeting 
this objective.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 7

Page 9

Agenda Annex



 

2 

 

BACKGROUND 

3. Managing contractor performance is essential for delivering the council’s 
objectives and targets.  Since some of the council’s services are outsourced, 
the council cannot deliver high quality services to its residents unless its 
contractors are performing well.  Working jointly with contractors to review 
performance regularly is therefore essential. 

4. The council’s process for managing contractor performance focuses on 
continuous improvement and action planning.  The council realises that the 
success of the framework depends on contractors and the council working 
together to set and review realistic, jointly agreed and measurable targets.  

5. The overall framework is designed to be: 

 a way for the council to consistently measure contractor performance, to 
help highlight and resolve operational issues 

 flexible enough to suit each contract, including smaller contracts which 
may not require all elements of the framework 

 a step towards managing risk more effectively and improving 
performance through action planning. 

6. For reasons of consistency and for fairness between contractors, the following 
guide to the assessment of performance criteria against all KPI is included 
within the councils’ monitoring criteria. 

Percentage 
Score 

0 – 69.9% 70% – 79.9% 80% – 84.9% 85% – 94.9% 95% – 100% 

Monitoring 
Score 

1 2 3 4 5 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

7. Evaluating contractor performance has four elements: 

i. performance measured against key performance targets (KPI) 
ii. customer satisfaction with the total service experience 
iii. council satisfaction as client 
iv. summary of strengths and areas for improvement, plus feedback from 

the contractor on the overall assessment and the contractor’s 
suggestions of ways in which the council might improve performance. 

8. The first three dimensions are assessed, and the Head of Service makes a 
judgement of classification.  The fourth element is a summary of strengths and 
areas for improvement and includes contractor feedback.  Where some 
dimensions are not relevant or are difficult to apply fairly to certain types of 
contracts, the framework may be adjusted or simplified at the discretion of the 
Head of Service. 

9. The report includes a summary of officer’s assessment for 2021-22 for each 
dimension.  This is the third year of the current contract directly with Saba 
previously the council was part of the Vinci 5 Councils Contract.  Results from 

Page 8 Page 10

Agenda Annex



 

3 

 

year one and two are included to allow comparisons to be made against 
previous years.  

10. The value of the contract as of the end of 2021-22, as a fixed annual charge 
was £483,517.32 per annum, of which the Vale proportion was £249,199.56 
per annum and the South Oxfordshire proportion was £234,317.76 per annum.  
The reason for the difference in values is because of the car park ownership is 
different at each authority.  

11. In addition to these contract cost there are also variable costs which the 
council has to pay, these cover the additional costs of customers using other 
methods of payments, such as over the phone, web payments and cover the 
charges made to Saba for the use of these facilities.  These variable costs 
were Vale £17,117.88 pa and South £57,995.80 pa which reflects the 
differences in income received for the parking service.   

12. The contract is to carry out all parking enforcement in accordance with the 
Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984 (RTRA), issue and process Excess Charge 
Notices (ECNs). This includes delivery of the following services: 

 maximise income from parking, keeping close accounts of spends, 
income and reconciliations in line with council policy  

 relevant administration of permits and notice processing and 
administration of ECNs under the 1984 (RTRA).  

 assisting with internal and external audit reviews and attending 
committee meetings as required by the council  

 dealing with out of hours emergencies in car parks 

 maintain excellent customer relations by dealing with emails, first 
disputes against ECNs, telephone calls in line with relevant legislation.  

 forward second and further disputes to the nominated council officer for 
consideration  

 taking and checking all payments by all methods, balance income from 
the pay and display machines and record the data, deal with queries 
make any relevant transfers, checking VAT calculations in line with 
proper accountancy practices and to all car park accounts are accurate 
and up to date  

 The main duties and responsibilities of enforcement officers are:  

 enforcement is carried out by officers who are responsible for the day to 
day running of the car parks, issuing ECNs and ensuring the smooth and 
safe operation of the car parks.  

 ensure good customer satisfaction by ensuring that the ticket machines 
are maintained in good working order which includes replenishing supply 
of tickets in machine, carry out regular checks and scheduled inspection 
surveys to identify any potential health and safety issues and signs are 
clear and graffiti free  

 carry out enforcement role effectively and efficiently by inspecting all 
vehicles to check that a current parking ticket, season ticket or disabled 
badge is displayed and issue appropriate ECN in accordance with 
legislation  

 act as an ambassador for the council, offering information and 

Page 9 Page 11

Agenda Annex



 

4 

 

assistance to members of the public on a variety of issues (not only car 
parking).  Provide excellent customer service by dealing with 
confrontational and emergency situations in a polite and efficient 
manner. 

13. The third year (as novated) of the contract has continued to be affected by 
Covid-19.  As the nation recovered from the epidemic the car parks continued 
to suffer from low usage as people continued to work from home or were 
reluctant to mix closely with others.  Saba has continued to provide the back-
office service from the offices at Milton Park although they have had to move 
around the offices on several occasions.  

14. The main influencing factor in the KPI results was the unsettled nature of the 
whole Saba team throughout the year. Significant changes took place in the 
Saba ticket processing team from April through to September, which saw 
pressures on office routines being maintained by a very inexperienced team. 
To further compound the demands, the car park inspector team has seen 
significant change since May which continues through the year with two 
leavers, one long term absence and one operative having reduced their hours 
through the year. Recruitment has been an unsurmountable obstacle through 
the second half of the year despite continuous efforts by Saba.  

15. At the early part of this year (April 2021) the effects of Covid and workplace 
restrictions were still being felt, placing pressures on the contract. Through the 
rest of the year Saba experienced constant challenges to meet Client activity, 
for example two price change events. Saba also had challenges for example 
effects of an Saba internal IT crisis, which placed unprecedented and at times 
significant levels of extra workload on a small inexperienced team.   

DIMENSION 1 – KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI) 

16. KPIs are recognised as an important element of monitoring the contractor’s 
performance.  The KPI cover those aspects of the service which are most 
important as a means of benchmarking against which performance can be 
measured.  KPI’s are reported monthly to the council using a traffic light 
system Green – achieved, Amber - Area for concern and Red – Failure and 
are discussed at the monthly Client/Contractor meeting. If issues persist, they 
are referred to the quarterly contract meeting attended by the Head of 
Development and Corporate Landlord and the Saba’s Regional Commercial 
Manager.  

17. KPIs are split into a number of sub-areas which combined make up the KPI 
score. The table showing the results of all sub-areas with a detailed 
breakdown of the scores is included within Appendix A. 

18. The following table shows the annual results for the KPI for 2021/22 compared 
with 2019/20 and 2020/21.  There are three areas of concern Notice 
Processing, Reporting and Disputes Management. 
 

 

Page 10 Page 12

Agenda Annex



 

5 

 

  Area 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
Monitoring 

Score 

KPI 1  Administration 89% 100% 100% 5 

KPI 2  Notice Processing 99% 91% 86% 4 

KPI 3 Reporting 100% 99% 93% 4 

KPI 4 Financial management 100% 100% 97% 5 

KPI 5 Disputes Management 100% 71% 94% 4 

KPI 6 Authorised Use 100% 100% 100% 5 

KPI 7  Customer satisfaction 0% 100% 100% 5 

KPI 8  Asset Condition 99% 97% 99% 5 

  
Average taking into 
account mitigation on 
KPI 5 (2020/21) 

86% 98% 96% 5 

 
Table 1 

 KPI 2 Notice Processing is highlighted as being an area for concern. 
Within KPI 2, sub KPI 2.2 the percentage of all notice disputes fully 
replied to within 10 working days, only achieved a score of 58 percent 
and therefore KPI 2 is subject to a service credit to the council of £1,088.   

The reason for the failure can be explained by the need to appoint new 
staff to three of the office roles within the contract. The KPI measures the 
time it takes to process notices and with inexperienced staff who needed 
to be trained in the processes it took longer than allowed.  

 KPI 3 Reporting is also highlighted as being an area for concern. Within 
KPI 3, sub KPI 3.1, Patrol the car parks - in accordance with the 
deployment plan. has been seriously affected by not being able to 
maintain a full CPI team resulting in only achieving 68 percent of required 
inspections over the year. This has resulted in a service credit of £725.00 
for the year.  

Saba have been using some of their office staff to undertake patrols and 
while this has helped the score on sub KPI 3.1, it has had some effect on 
sub KPI 2.2 as office staff have spent the time undertaking patrols rather 
than notice processing.  Saba have been working with both the councils 
and employment agencies to try and improve the response to employment 
opportunities. 

 KPI 4 While this whole KPI has not been identified as an area for concern, 
Saba did fail a sub KPI 4.5 All funding collected from the ticket 
machines to be transferred to the Council's bank account within 6 
working days where Saba achieved a result of 85 percent. (Red).  As the 
average score of KPI 4 was 97 percent (green) there is no service credit. 

Page 11 Page 13

Agenda Annex



 

6 

 

The reason for the failure of sub KPI 4.5 was that Saba changed its 
financial processes which delayed some payments being transferred. This 
process has now been changed and Saba are now transferring funds 
within the required period.   

 KPI 5 Disputes Management.  Within KPI 5, Sub KPI 5.1 Forward all 
draft second and third disputes responses to the council where 
relevant - within 5 working days of receipt was 87.5 percent (Amber) 
All disputes were responded to but not within the required timescale 
Overall KPI 5 was on average 94 percent (Amber) and this resulted in a 
service credit of £725. 

This area of concern was caused by staff shortages  

19. The total service credits calculated for these underperformances is £2,538.00 
and this will be divided between the councils on the same bases at as the 
contract payments. 

Overall KPI performance 

20. A detailed analysis of performance against the KPI’s and sub KPI’s can be 
found in Appendix A Key performance targets. Although some sub KPI’s 
have not been achieved, Saba’s overall performance has given an average 
KPI performance rating of 96 percent (Green).  Based on the councils 
monitoring criteria 96 percent equates to a classification of Excellent.   

21. Given that some sub KPI have not been achieve the Head of Service has 
made a judgement on KPI performance as follows: 

KPI judgement Good 

Previous KPI judgement for comparison –  Excellent 

DIMENSION 2 – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

22. In the year 2019-20 there was no data relating to customer satisfaction 
collected by Saba. During 2020-21, Saba worked with council officers to 
develop a customer service questionnaire.  A link to an on-line survey is 
attached to correspondence sent out by Saba to car park customers. Officers 
agreed that customer feedback from people issued with an ECN is likely to 
provide a negative or biased view of the process which would not be a true 
reflection of customer satisfaction. Therefore, officers agreed that the link 
should be included in general communications only and not be included in any 
communication directly regarding the issuing of a ticket or the dispute of a 
ticket.    

23. While the link has been sent out to more than 500 customers during the year, 
the response from customers has been poor, with only eight responses. (a 
response rate of under 1.6 percent). Officers are working with Saba to see 
what can be done to improve the number of returns. 

Page 12 Page 14

Agenda Annex



 

7 

 

24. The final question on the survey is an open question to allow customers to 
express their view on the service being provided, as below: 

 Is there anything else you would like us to know about your customer 
service experience with us? 

 There were only a few comments put in this section, two were complimentary 
and one was complaining that they wanted a contact number to contact the 
parking team, which is on the web site. 

25. The questions and results of the customer service questionnaire are included 
within Annex B.  Given such a low return it is difficult to analyze customer 
satisfaction, all of the questions show a good or excellent service provided by 
Saba. In question six, overall, from the eight returns most people rated the 
service provided by Saba either Excellent or Good. 

26. As part of this dimension, officers have taken into account that there were no 
formal complaints regarding Saba staff logged as part of the council’s 
complaints procedure during the review period. 

27. As the number of customer satisfaction surveys returned is so low, in order to 
complete this assessment, the Head of Service has made a judgement based 
on this limited evidence on customer satisfaction as follows: 

Customer satisfaction judgement   
Note: still a disappointing number of returns from customers 

Good  

Previous customer satisfaction judgement for comparison Good 

DIMENSION 3 – COUNCIL SATISFACTION  

28. As part of the performance review, officers with direct experience of working 
with Saba and who frequently interact with them were asked to complete a 
short questionnaire.  This included the staff within the property, legal, finance, 
parks, facilities, and the technical services business support team. In total only 
five questionnaires were returned as many staff now have little interaction with 
Saba, due to the different working arrangements that have been put in place 
following the Covid pandemic.  This is because most of the council’s 
interaction with Saba is now through the Technical Service Team, who then 
deal with other areas within the councils as and when required. 

29. There was also an internal audit undertaken which resulted in a number of 
recommendations for improvements which have now been implemented by 
the councils’ officers and Saba.  The overall result of the audit was 
satisfactory. 

30. Most officers where happy with the service provided by Saba, however two 
officers raised concerns about the invoicing process being slow which 
impacted on the councils’ budget monitoring. 

31. Based on Saba’s performance an overall council satisfaction rating score of 
4.34 has been achieved.  An analysis of council satisfaction can be found in 
Annex C. 

Page 13 Page 15

Agenda Annex



 

8 

 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

32. Based on this performance, the Head of Service has made a judgement on 
council satisfaction as follows: 

Council satisfaction judgement Excellent 

Previous council satisfaction judgement for comparison Good 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT 

33. Taking into account the performance of the contractor against KPI, customer 
satisfaction with staff attitude and council satisfaction, the Head of Service has 
made an overall judgement as follows.  

Overall assessment Good 

Previous overall assessment for comparison Good 

34. The reason for this assessment is based on the continued poor response to 
customers completing the customer surveys and Saba’s failure to achieve all 
the sub KPI’s 

STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

35. During 2021-22 officers started the process of implementing Civil Parking 
Enforcement which required Saba and the Council to work in partnership to 
ensure that the change over to the new legislation runs a smoothly as 
possible.  This joint working has led to a better understanding of each other’s 
roles within parking enforcement and how we can improve joint operations.   

36. The Head of Service would particularly wish to express their thanks to the 
Saba’s contract manager, who has worked all year within a difficult 
employment market but still done their best to provide the service required by 
the Council.  

37. The main areas quoted by officers regarding Saba strengths and areas for 
improvement are: 

Strengths Entirely new team, eager to learn new things and how to handle 
legal matters.  

Specifically, I and Anthony have built very good relationship and 
always take on board each other comments.  

Saba is taking a lot more responsibilities than they used to, and 
communication is now much better. 

Positive attitude and smooth processes in place. 

Page 14 Page 16

Agenda Annex



 

9 

 

Areas for 

improvement 

Team should be more proactive and instruct us in advance to 
issue proceedings, at the moment there are delays and last-
minute instructions and we have had discussion re this issue, I 
believe Saba is still short staff.  

There are set dates for court hearings and matters needs 
submitting on a specific date each month, but Saba is not 
allowing us enough time to review these matters well in 
advance, last minute instructions are not recommended.  

38. The change to CPE will mean that the interaction with the legal team will 
change considerably. The new process will mean that most enforcement 
action will be the responsibility of the council’s car park team as the new 
process does not normally require legal representation as they are civil 
matters.   

CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL IMPACT IMPLICATIONS 

39. There is no specific climate and ecological implications to this report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

40. During 2020-21 Saba performance against KPIs was mitigated due to the 
Covid pandemic.  In 2021-22 officers do not feel that there is scope for 
mitigation.   

41. While Saba’s overall performance is considered good, the failure to achieve 
the following KPIs, has resulted in service credit being identified in line with 
the contract.    

42. The following KPI’s resulted in the following service credits to the councils:  

 KPI 2 % of all notice disputes fully replied to within 10 working days penalty 
£1088.00 

 KPI 3 Patrol the car parks - in accordance with the deployment plan - TBC 
South and Vale visits penalty £725. 

 KPI 5.1 Forward all draft second and third disputes responses to the 
council where relevant - within 5 working days of receipt - penalty £725.00.  

43. The total service credits awarded to the councils for the year 2021-22 is 
£2,538.00    

CONCLUSION 

44. The overall performance rating of “Good” the Head of Service for 2021-22 has 
remained the same as in 2020-21. This rating is mainly due to the difficulties 
that Saba has had in employing new staff.  While the overall score against KPI 
has improved from 94 percent in 2020-21 to 96 percent in 2021-22, there are 
a number of sub-KPI failed mainly due to staff shortages to undertake specific 
tasks.    

Page 15 Page 17

Agenda Annex



 

10 

 

45. The number of customer responses to the customer satisfaction questionnaire 
is still very low and it is hoped that by expanding the survey to include 
questions on the customer perception of the conditions of the council’s car 
parks, will make the completion of the surveys more attractive for customers.   

46. The Dimension 3, council satisfaction has improved from fair to excellent 
although the number of completed questionnaires has reduced due to the new 
way of working.  

47. Saba have worked well with council officers in planning the implementation of 
Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) and we are on course to for the 
implementation date of 1 November 2022.  

48. The Head of Service has assessed Saba’s overall performance as Good for 
its delivery of the car park management and enforcement services for 2021-
22.  The committee is asked to make any comments to the Cabinet Member 
with responsibility for car parks to enable them to make a final assessment on 
performance by way of an Individual Cabinet Member Decision.  

49. If the committee does not agree with the Head of Service assessment, then 
this report will be referred to Cabinet for further discussion and a final 
assessment of Saba’s performance.   

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 None

Page 16 Page 18

Agenda Annex



Annex A – Key performance targets 
Monitoring evaluation KPI rating score (excellent = 5, good = 4, fair = 3, weak = 2, poor = 1)  
 

11 

 

KP 1 89% 100% 100%

1.1 Administration Reply to all public, officer and councillor parking and car parks queries (where relevant to Saba, for off street, public parking), 100% of full responses sent within 10 working days 100% 100% 100%

1.2 Administration % of call outs for lock-ins to the Charter Car Park where responded to and released within 30 minutes. .  67% 100% 100%

1.3 Administration 2 usage surveys (one for each council of all car parks) completed per annum with results published within 30 days of the survey end date (Council to give 30 days notice) 100% 100% 100%

KPI 2 99% 91% 86%

2.1 Notice processing % achievement of target for notice progressions (for 1984 regs) - Send out 7 day letters after 21 days of being unpaid after the 23
rd

 day 100% 92% 100%

2.2 Notice processing % of all notice disputes fully replied to within 10 working days 99% 82% 58%

2.3 Notice processing % achievement of target for cpi error "excess charge notices" (not to exceed 93   % of total issued averaged over the year) 99% 100% 100%

KPI 3 100% 99% 94%

3.1 Reporting Patrol the car parks - in accordance with the deployment plan - TBC South and Vale visits 99% 93% 68%

3.2 Reporting % of monthly reports (stats in tabular and graphical format on notices issued, P+D income and permits issued (number and income))  issued by the tenth of each month 100% 100% 100%

3.3 Reporting Provide monthly financial records on income vs budget for pay and display fees, ECN/PCN and permits and all other miscellaneous uses separately for each council in table and graphical format. 100% 100% 100%

3.4 Reporting Requests from the council's (Internal) auditors, acknowledge requests within 24 working hours and provide all relevant information requested with five working days 100% 100% 100%

3.5 Reporting Production of Annual Report (summarising all aspects of the car park operation and service) – Annually (by 30 April each year) 100% 100% 100%

KPI 4 100% 100% 97%

4.1
Financial 

management
100% of all records of cash collected for the previous month to be reported and reconciled  by the 10th  of each month.  (Agresso vs Saba collection ) 100% 100% 100%

4.2
Financial 

management
 100% of all records of non cash collected for the previous month to be reported and reconciled  by the 10th  of each month.  (Agresso vs Saba collection ) 100% 100% 100%

4.3
Financial 

management
% of payment vouchers and refunds raised within five working days of requests 100% 100% 100%

4.4
Payments 

processing
All payments received at the 135 to be banked within 24 working hour of recents (on site) 100% 100% 100%

4.5
Payments 

processing
All funding collected from the ticket machines to be transferred to the Council's bank account within 6 working days 100% 100% 85%

KPI 5 100% 71% 94%

5.1
Disputes 

management
Forward all draft second and third disputes responses to the council where relevant - within 5 working days of receipt 100% 43% 88%

5.2
Disputes 

management
% achievement of target for number of second disputes - 97% of total issued averaged over the year (up to 3% can be cancelled at 2nd dispute) ie incorrect interpretaion of cancellation criteria 100% 100% 100%

KPI 6 100% 100% 100%

6.1 Authorised use % of permitted use issued or forwarded for agreement, within three working days being agreed 100% 100% 100%

6.2 Authorised use Issue 100% of (parking) permits (season tickets) within 3 working days once agreed (excluding bulk application requests) 100% 100% 100%

KPI 7 0% 100% 100%

7.1
Customer 

satisfaction
% of agreed number of customer satisfaction surveys completed annually and publish results within 30 working days. 0% 100% 100%

KPI 8 
99% 97% 99%

8.1 Asset condition Report H+S issues and confrontational situations monthly to the council (incidents and accidents and near misses) via monthly report 100% 100% 100%

8.2 Asset condition Car park inspection survey (all car parks including those free) – Completed an agreed checksheet once a quarter to identfy issues within the car parks that need resolving by the Councils.  100% 100% 100%

8.3 Asset condition % achievement Risk assessments -  to review and update Saba risk assessments once per year or as required following any reported incidents.  100% compliance required 100% 100% 100%

8.4 Asset condition % of car park machine faults responded to and fixed within three day working day of identification - via monthly report (Three working days Monday to Saturday) 97% 90% 96%

86% 94% 96%

Authorised Use

Customer satisfaction

Asset Condition

Total 

Administration

Notice Processing

Reporting

Financial management

Disputes Management

P
age 17

P
age 19

A
genda A

nnex



 

12 

 

Annex A (continued) Comments on KPI table 
 
2.2  At the start of this financial year there was no office team and the then 

Operations Supervisor was struggling to meeting the demands of their role.  
New staff have now been appointed to undertake the office role within the 
contract 

 
3.1 This KPI has been seriously affected by not being able to maintain a full CPI 

team since May. This is not just a problem within this contract but many 
others as the role is not one that attracts staff and currently there are many 
other opportunities available to them 

 
4.5  Saba had a new financial director who implemented procedural changes 

without taking into account the contract requirements. Saba resolved the 
issue quickly once identified and most payments are now completed on time 

 
5.1  Delayed by staff shortages and the requirements of client activity in car 

parks requiring changes to CPI rotas. 
 
8.4  The ticket machines are coming to the end of their life and will require the 

council to fund their replacement shortly as parts get more difficult to 
source.  Also, there was a problem with internet connection on level one of 
the Charter Car Park which took a while to overcome resulting in a new 
booster being fitted, so that the ticket machine can connect to other 
resources.  

  

Page 18 Page 20

Agenda Annex



 

13 

 

Annex B – Customer Satisfaction 

 

1

Stongly agree Somewhat Agree Agree Disagree Somewhat Agree Strongly Disagree

Saba UK are clear in 

their written 

communications

50.00% 12.50% 12.50% 0.00% 0.00% 25.00%

Saba UK are clear in 

their verbal 

communications

57.14% 14.29% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 28.57%

Saba UK are easy to 

contact
57.14% 14.29% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 28.57%

2

62.50%

12.50%

25.00%

0.00%

25.00%

3

50.00%

25.00%

25.00%

4

25.00%

50.00%

25.00%

25.00%

5

75.00%

25.00%

6

50.00%

25.00%

25.00%

7

Saba Parking Services Customer Satisfaction Survey

Really appreciate the provision of motorhome parking - including overnight. Will enable us to walk into town for a meal - brilliant! Thank you

Perfect in every way Thank you

I would like a contact number to resolve my query very frustrated

Is there anything else you would like us to know about your customer service experience with us

Other (please specify)

When thinking of your customer service experiences with Saba UK,

With regards to communication timelines, Saba UK 

Responded proptly to my request and within at least two working days

Responded to my request within one week

Respnded to my request after one working week

Dis not respond to my request

With regards to my communication accuracy and consistancy, Saba UK

The Quality of the response communication was

Excellent all my questions were answered and the matter was resolved

Good most of my questions were answered and the matter was ultimately resolved

Poor my question were not answer and the matter was not successfully resolved

Were able to answer my questions and provide me with information and/or services that I could use

Enabled me to do my job more effectively and/or make better use of their service on offer

Excellent

Good

How would you rate your overall experiences with Saba UK

Average

Below average

Poor

Understood my needs and the requirements of my request/service

Provided high quality information in their response which was accurate and relevant

Did not understand my need and the requirements of my request/service

Did not provide high quality information in their response which was accuate and relevant

Other (Please specify)

With regard to their knowledgeability Saba UK

Page 19 Page 21

Agenda Annex



 

14 

 

Annex C – Council staff satisfaction 

This assessment allows the council (as a client) to record its own satisfaction with 
aspects of a contractor’s performance which lie outside key performance targets and 
customer satisfaction.  Each officer with direct knowledge and who frequently interacts 
with the contractor has been requested to complete this form.  Some questions can be 
left blank if the officer does not have direct knowledge of that question 

When thinking of Saba service delivery, please rate the following items on a scale provided

Attribute
(5) Very 

satisfied

(4) 

Satisfied
(3) Neither

(2) Dis-

satisfied

(1) Very 

dissatisfied

Monitoring 

Score

Understanding of the client's needs 5 5

Response time 3 2 4.6

Delivers to time 3 2 4.6

Delivers to budget 3 2 4.6

Efficiency of invoicing 2 2 3

Approach to health and safety 4 4

4.3

2. Communications

Attribute
(5) Very 

satisfied

(4) 

Satisfied
(3) Neither

(2) Dis-

satisfied

(1) Very 

dissatisfied

Monitoring 

Score

Easy to deal with

Communications / keeping the 

client informed
1 4 4.2

Quality of written documentation 5 5

Compliance with council’s 

corporate identity
5 5

Listening 5 5

Quality of relationship 5 5

4.84

Attribute
(5) Very 

satisfied

(4) 

Satisfied
(3) Neither

(2) Dis-

satisfied

(1) Very 

dissatisfied

Monitoring 

Score

Offers suggestions beyond the 

scope of work
3 1 1 3.4

Degree of innovation 3 1 1 3.4

Goes the extra mile 1 4 4.2

Supports the council’s 

sustainability objectives
4 1 3.8

Supports the council’s equality 

objectives
1 4 4.2

Degree of partnership working 1 4 4.2

3.87

4.34

Question monitoring Score

Council Overall  satisfaction score 

1. Service Delivery

Question monitoring Score

Question monitoring Score

When thinking of Saba communications and relations delivery, please rate the following itons on the scale 

provided

3 Improvement and Innovation

. 

Page 20 Page 22

Agenda Annex



 

15 

 

 Annex D - Contractor 360° feedback 

CONTRACTOR’S REACTION / FEEDBACK ON COUNCIL’S ASSESSMENT 

An exceptionally busy and complex year, with a number of key challenges and 
impacts outside of normal working practices managed successfully by the Saba 
Team working in partnership with the council.  

In our view, there has been a significant level of commitment from the Team in 
assisting the council achieve both strategic and localised targets & objectives. I am 
pleased to report that Nigel has now been formally placed in the role of Contract 
Manager and has worked tirelessly this year to rebuild a stable team. This is despite 
challenges relative to recruitment, derived from a competitive employment market 
driven by the Pandemic recovery and Brexit. The introduction of two key individuals 
within the Notice Processing and Operational teams, namely the supervisor and key 
administrator roles has seen increased productivity, efficiency, and effective 
management of these functions. Recruitment at CPA level remains a challenge and 
we acknowledge that this has impacted KPI performance. As a result, Saba have 
introduced additional measures to enhance the recruitment process, including the 
sourcing of a localised recruitment agency, the utilisation of national recruitment 
platforms, enhanced pay and benefits, and we will continue to review this position 
with the council.    

In terms of future strategy, we are working closely with the council on formulating a 
transitional plan to accommodate the change from RTA 84 to TMA 2004 (CPE) , 
including supporting the council with the provision of costs, training, change control 
and guidance on the required changes to ensure that we are collectively in the best 
position to successfully switch to the new legislation. In addition, we continue to 
work closely with the council on the planned move away from Milton Park to new 
premises and will continue to provide support both in terms of the physical move, IT 
services, planning and logistics, whilst maintaining a seamless transition and 
maintaining services throughout the move. In summary, despite the challenging and 
change in services, both in real time and those planned, Saba have maintained an 
effective parking management service for the councils and will continue in 
partnership to develop future services to meet council requirements and 
expectations. 

 

 

 
 

Page 21 Page 23

Agenda Annex



 

16 

 

Any areas where contractor disagrees with assessment 

Saba believes the assessment is fair and reasonable. 

WHAT COULD / SHOULD THE COUNCIL DO DIFFERENTLY TO 
ENABLE THE CONTRACTOR TO DELIVER THE SERVICE MORE 
EFFICIENTLY / EFFECTIVELY / ECONOMICALLY? 

To continue the collaborative approach already applied to both project management 
and the current service delivery. To continue to openly discuss and plan for 
future projects, ensuring that reasonable timelines are applied in order to meet 
with the councils’ expectations. 

 

 

 

Feedback provided by Andy Marr Date 01.09.22 

 

 

 

 

Page 22 Page 24

Agenda Annex



 1 
 

Joint Scrutiny Committee Report  

  
Report of Head of Housing and Environment 

Author: Ian Matten 

Tel: 01235 422113 

E-mail: ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk  

Vale Cabinet Member responsible: Sally Povolotsky 

Tel: 07939 912997 

E-mail: sally.povolotsky@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

DATE: 19 September 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

South Cabinet Member responsible: Sue Cooper 

Tel: 07717274703  

E-mail: sue.cooper@southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

Performance review of 

Biffa Municipal Ltd – 2021 Calendar year 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That scrutiny committee considers Biffa Municipal Ltd (Biffa) performance in delivering 
the household waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary services contract for the 
period 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (2021 calendar year) and makes any 
comments before a final assessment on performance is made.  
 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To ask scrutiny committee for its views on the performance of Biffa in providing the 
household waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary services in South Oxfordshire 
and Vale of White Horse District Councils for the calendar year 1 January 2021 to 31 
December 2021.  

Strategic Objectives 

2. The service contributed to Vale’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2024) of Tackling the Climate 
Emergency and South’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2024) of Action on Climate Emergency.  

Background 

3. Managing contractor performance is essential for delivering the councils’ objectives and 
targets.  Since a high proportion of the councils services are outsourced, the councils 
cannot deliver high quality services to its residents unless its contractors are performing 
well.  Using an agreed framework and working jointly with contractors to review 
performance regularly is therefore essential.   

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

Page 25

Agenda Annex



 2 
 

4. The councils’ process for managing contractor performance focuses on continuous 
improvement and action planning.  The councils realise that the success of the 
framework depends on contractors and the councils working together to set and review 
realistic, jointly agreed measurable targets.  

5. The overall framework is designed to be: 

 a way for the councils to consistently measure contractor performance, to help 
highlight and resolve operational issues 
 

 flexible enough to suit each contract, including smaller contracts which may 
not require all elements of the framework 

 

 a step towards managing risk more effectively and improving performance 
through action planning. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

6. Evaluating contractor performance has four elements: 

1. performance measured against key performance targets (KPT) 
2. customer satisfaction with the total service experience 
3. councils satisfaction as client 
4. a summary of strengths and areas for improvement, feedback from the 

contractor on the overall assessment plus the contractor’s suggestions of 
ways in which the councils might improve performance. 

 
7. The first three dimensions are assessed, and the head of service makes a judgement of 

classification. The fourth element is a summary of strengths and areas for improvement 
and includes contractor feedback.  Where some dimensions are not relevant, or difficult 
to apply fairly to certain types of contracts, the framework may be adjusted or simplified 
at the discretion of the head of service. 

8. A summary of officer’s assessment in 2021 for each dimension, the overall assessment, 
and a comparison against 2020 can be seen in the following table: 

 
2020 2021 

Key Performance Target Good Good 

Customer satisfaction Good Fair 

Councils satisfaction Good Good 

Overall officer 
assessment 

Good Good 

 

9. Biffa were awarded the joint waste contract in December 2008 with a commencement 
date in South Oxfordshire of June 2009.  The Vale of White Horse element of the 
contract commenced in October 2010.  The councils in 2013 decided, in accordance 

Page 24 Page 26

Agenda Annex



 3 
 

with the conditions of contract to extend the contract for a seven-year period. The 
contract is due to end in June 2024. 

10. The current value of the contract, as a fixed annual charge is £12,011,043 per annum of 
which the Vale of White Horse proportion is £5,731,168 per annum and South 
Oxfordshire is £6,279,875 per annum. 

11. The contract includes delivery of the following services: 

 weekly collection of household food waste from 23 litre bins 

 fortnightly collection of household recycling from 240 litre wheeled bins or clear 
sacks, collecting textiles from bags placed next to the recycling bin, collecting 
batteries placed in a clear bag on top of the recycling bin 

 fortnightly collection of household residual waste from 180 litre wheeled bins or pink 
sacks this is collected on the alternate week to recycling, collection of small electrical 
items in bags placed next to the residual bin 

 emptying bulk bins for refuse, recycling and food waste bins provided for flats and 
communal properties 

 fortnightly collection of household garden waste to residents who have opted into this 
charged for service. In January 2022, there were 57,429 garden waste bins provided 
to customers across the two districts 

 collection from Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment (WEEE) bring banks 

 collection of household bulky waste items for which there is a charge 

 litter collection and cleansing of roads, streets and public areas 

 emptying of litter and dog bins 

 provide a dedicated call centre facility to residents 

 removal of fly-tipping. 

 

DIMENSION 1 – KEY PERFORMANCE TARGETS (KPT) 

12.  KPT are included in the Biffa contract to provide a benchmark against which 
performance can be measured.  The KPT cover those aspects of the service which are 
considered to be of most concern to our residents and are measured on an ongoing 
basis and reported monthly by Biffa.  The current KPT for this contract are: 

 KPT 1 - missed collections – number of missed collections per 100,000 collections.  
Target - no more than 50. 

 KPT 2 - rectification of missed collections – percentage of reported missed 
household collections rectified within 48 hours of the scheduled collection day.  
Target - 100 per cent. 

Page 25 Page 27

Agenda Annex



 4 
 

 KPT 3 - percentage of household waste sent for re-use, recycling and composting.  
Although it was agreed that KPT 3 would be removed from the contract when the 
promotion’s role was transferred to the councils’ (2016) and Biffa can no longer 
directly influence this, it is still a key outcome from the contract and performance is 
driven in part by the proficiency of the collection service. Performance is measured 
against the most recent official UK waste from recycling rate. For 2020/21 this 
was 44 per cent. 

 KPT 4 - NI 195 - improved street and environmental cleanliness – levels of litter and 
detritus.  Since April 2011 national indicator for waste NI 195 is no longer used as 
national measure, however the councils have continued to use these as a measure 
of the contractor’s performance. Targets - litter 4 per cent, detritus 7 per cent. 

 KPT 5 – Incomplete rounds – the number of properties affected as a result of 
incomplete rounds. Target – fewer than 1,000 per month. 
 

 KPT 6 – Call centre – average time residents spend on hold before the call is 
answered. Target – 35 seconds. 

 KPT 7 – Deliveries – New properties, Percentage of bins delivered within ten working 
days of the request being logged. Target – 85 per cent. 

 KPT 8 – Deliveries – Replacement bins, Percentage of bins delivered within ten 
working days of the request being logged. Target – 85 per cent. 

 KPT 9 – Fly tipping – percentage of fly tips cleared from high intensity areas within 12 
working hours of a report received. Target – 90 per cent. 

 KPT 10 – Fly tipping – Percentage of fly tips under three cubic metres, not in high 
intensity areas cleared within 24 hours of a report being received. Target – 90 per 
cent. 

 
KPT 1 – Missed Collections 
 
13. Performance is calculated as the number of reported missed collections per 100,000 

collections for the period 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.  

14. During this review period the average number of missed collections across the two 
districts was 96 per 100,000 collections.  In 2020 the number was 85 per 100,000.  A 
combined total of 13,224 collections were logged as missed throughout the review 
period. This is out of a total of 13,970,808 potential collections (each bin type is 
recorded as a separate collection) and equates to 99.9 per cent of bins being collected 
as scheduled. Despite this high percentage the overall rating for this KPT is “weak” 
because the target is no more than 50 per 100,000 collections. 

15. Out of all the missed collection’s food bins are the most frequently missed, 5,827 (44.06 
per cent) throughout the review period, although this is not unsurprising as these bins 
are collected weekly compared to the other types of bins which are collected fortnightly. 

KPT 2 – Rectification of missed collections  

Page 26 Page 28

Agenda Annex



 5 
 

16. This measure is the percentage of reported missed collections rectified within 48 hours 
of the scheduled collection day. The target is 100 per cent. During this review period out 
of the 13,224 reported missed bins 86 per cent were rectified within the 48-hour target, 
compared to last year’s figure of 89 per cent.  

17. This results in a “weak” rating for this review period.   

KPT 3 – Percentage of household waste sent for re-use, recycling and 
composting 

18. Table one below shows that the combined performance of both councils for KPT 3 was 
61.93 per cent a decrease on last year’s figure of 65.49 per cent, for information the 
previous five years’ figures are also shown.   

19. The figures show a decrease of 4,956 tonnes of total recycling collected in 2021, 
compared to the previous year. Although there was an increase in the amount of dry 
recycling produced there were decreases in the amount of food and garden waste 
collected.  This was partly caused by the suspension of the garden waste service during 
August and September because of insufficient drivers and general staffing levels. There 
was an increase of 2,979 tonnes of refuse collected.    

20. Although KPT 3 does not have a formal target, it continues to be measured against the 
official UK waste from households recycling rate which for 2020/21 was 44 per cent. 
This is the official recycling measure which is used as the basis for reporting at UK level 
against the waste Framework Directive.  The overall rating for this KPT is “excellent” 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 27 Page 29

Agenda Annex



 6 
 

Table One  
 

 Dry 

recycling 

(tonnes) 

Food waste 

(tonnes) 

Garden 

waste 

(tonnes) 

Total 

recycling 

(tonnes) 

Refuse to 

Energy 

Recovery 

Facility & 

Landfill 

(tonnes) 

Total 

recycling 

plus refuse 

(tonnes) 

% Recycled 

1 January –   

31 

December 

2016 

28,948 9,942 19,888 58,778 34,045 92,823 63.32% 

1 January –   

31 

December 

2017 

26,854 9,972 20,896 57,722 34,206 91,928 62.79% 

1 January –   

31 

December 

2018 

28,052 11,015 19,921 58,988 34,781 93,768 62.90% 

1 January –   

31 

December 

2019 

27,340 11,526 22,006 60,871 35,544 96,415 63.13% 

1 January –   

31 

December 

2020 

27,463 15,955 25,219 68,637 36,165 104,802 65.49% 

1 January – 

31 

December 

2021 

29,596 13,116 20,969 63,681 39,144 102,825 61.93% 

 

KPT 4 – National Indicator (NI) 195, improved street and environmental 
cleanliness – levels of litter and detritus 

21. At the commencement of the contract, the councils and Biffa agreed targets for the 
levels of litter and detritus. These targets were as follows: 

 No more than four per cent of relevant land to have unacceptable levels of litter. 

 No more than seven per cent of relevant land to have unacceptable levels of detritus. 

22. The councils are no longer required to report nationally on NI 195, however for 
consistency contract performance for street cleanliness continues to be monitored using 
the same methodology. Inspections are carried out by an independent company 

Page 28 Page 30

Agenda Annex



 7 
 

specialising in this type of work who asses the levels of litter and detritus using Defra’s 
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse. It is reported as a percentage of relevant land 
that is assessed as having levels of litter and detritus that fall below an acceptable level. 

23. The combined scores achieved in this review period were 1 per cent for litter and 11 per 
cent for detritus.  The litter score remained the same from the previous year and detritus 
levels have decreased to 11 per cent from 19 per cent last year. The overall rating for 
this KPT is “good””.  

KPT 5 – Incomplete rounds – the number of properties affected as a 
result of incomplete rounds 

24. This KPT was introduced in 2017 to quantify the impacts of reliability issues with Biffa’s 
fleet which caused collection rounds to be incomplete on the correct day. These are not 
measured as part of the missed collection KPT. 

25. The target for this KPT is fewer than 1,000 per month. The average number of 
properties affected by incomplete rounds in this review period was 10,307 per month. 
This compares to 1,695 per month in 2020. This significant increase was caused by the 
impact of the driver shortages on staffing levels, the services were maintained by crews 
catching up incomplete rounds over the weekends. The overall assessment against this 
KPT is “poor”. 

KPT 6 – Call centre – average time residents spend on hold before the 
call is answered 

26. The average time residents spent on hold before their call was answered is measured 
and reported monthly.  

27. During this review period the average time residents spent on hold was 86 seconds.  
This exceeds the target of 35 seconds and is a deterioration on last year’s figure of 39 
seconds. The main cause of the increase was the volume of calls caused by service 
disruptions. The overall rating for this KPT is “poor. 

KPT 7 – Deliveries – New properties, percentage of bins delivered within 
ten working days of the request being logged 

28. The percentage of bins delivered to new properties within ten working days of the 
request being logged is measured and reported monthly.  

29. During this review period 7,810 out of a total of 7,888 requests for bins were delivered 
within ten working days this equates to 99 per cent compared to 98 per cent in the 
previous year. The number of orders for bins remain very high due to the amount of new 
housing in both districts. The overall assessment against this KPT is “excellent”. 

KPT 8 – Deliveries – Replacement bins, percentage of bins delivered 
within ten working days of the request being logged 

30. The percentage of replacement bin requests delivered within ten working days of the 
request being logged is measured and reported monthly.  

Page 29 Page 31

Agenda Annex



 8 
 

31. During this review period 8,919 out of a total of 8,981 replacement bin requests were 
delivered within ten working days this equates to 99 per cent, the same as the previous 
year. The overall assessment against this KPT is “excellent”. 

KPT 9 – Fly tipping - percentage of fly tips cleared from high intensity 
areas within 12 working hours of a report being received 

32. 100 per cent of fly-tips were cleared in high intensity areas within 12 hours of a report 
being received during this review period.  There were 79 fly-tips, down from 119 last 
year in high intensity areas, there are some occasions when the time being measured is 
paused for a short period to allow our Envirocrime team time to investigate a fly tip to 
obtain evidence. Once any evidence is collected, we instruct Biffa to proceed with the 
clearance. 

33. The overall assessment against this KPT is “excellent”.  

KPT 10 – Fly tipping - Percentage of fly tips under three cubic metres, not 
in high intensity areas cleared within 24 hours of a report being 
received 

34. 100 per cent of fly-tips outside high intensity areas were cleared within 24 hours of a 
report received during this review period. There were 1,257 fly-tips, within this review 
period, a decrease from 1,342 last year, there are some occasions when the time being 
measured is paused for a short period to allow our Envirocrime team time to investigate 
a fly tip to obtain evidence. Once any evidence is collected, we instruct Biffa to proceed 
with the clearance 

35. The overall assessment against this KPT is “excellent”.  

Average rating score – KPT 1 – 10 

36. Based on Biffa’s performance an overall KPT performance rating score of 3.5 has been 
achieved, the previous satisfaction rating score was 3.7.  An analysis of performance 
against the KPTs can be found in Annex A. 

37. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a guide to the assessment of Biffa against all KPT:  

Score 1 – 1.4999 1.5 – 2.499 2.5 – 3.499 3.5 – 4.499 4.5 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

 

38. The head of service has made a judgement on KPT performance as follows: 

KPT judgement good 

 

Previous KPT judgement for comparison good 

 
 
 

Page 30 Page 32

Agenda Annex



 9 
 

DIMENSION 2 - CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 
 
39. Customer satisfaction for this report has not been measured using the results of a 

councils’ residents survey as in previous years. The last resident’s satisfaction survey 
was undertaken in December 2017 and is considered too outdated to be a fair reflection 
of current satisfaction.  

40. Customer satisfaction has therefore been based on the number of formal complaints 
received, the number of compliments and KPT 6 which relates to the hold time 
customers have experienced when contacting the call centre. 

41.  We acknowledge that customer satisfaction is a key element in the overall assessment 
of performance and our engagement team is working on a new process to address this.  

Comments and complaints 

 
42. The councils received nineteen formal stage one complaints relating to Biffa’s 

performance during this review period compared to eight last year. There were eleven 
relating to recurring missed collections, six relating to garden waste issues, one 
concerned a bulky waste collection and one concerned poor bin return. Two complaints 
were escalated to stage two and related to a missed collection and a garden waste 
issue. One complaint was reviewed by the Local Government Ombudsman which 
concluded that there had been an injustice to the resident due to missed bins, but that 
action had been taken to rectify it.   

43. During this review period the councils also received ten compliments from residents 
relating to the waste service, including: 

 I was a bit late in getting my garden waste out this morning and the guys came 
back up the road to collect it. I thanked them, but please acknowledge this, it was 
greatly appreciated. 

 

 Would like to say a huge thank you to all staff of the waste disposal team on what 
is becoming an increasingly difficult job to do. They are exceptional whatever the 
weather. 

 

 I would like to mention what an excellent job Biffa have done on cleaning up the 
paths and gutters at the end of Gorwell in Watlington.  I know from personal 
experience it is hard work. 

 

 Voicemail from resident in Garsington, she wanted us to know that the refuse 
crew are amazing, and nothing is too much trouble for them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 Page 33

Agenda Annex



 10 
 

44. Based on the number of formal complaints received, the number of compliments, the 
result of KPT 6. and that Biffa continued to provide most services without disruption, 
despite the impact Covid had on service delivery, the head of service has made a 
judgement on customer satisfaction as follows: 

Overall assessment  fair 

 

Previous customer satisfaction judgement for comparison good 

 

DIMENSION 3 – COUNCILS SATISFACTION  

45. As part of the performance review officers with direct knowledge and who frequently 
interact with the contractor were asked to complete a short questionnaire, this included 
the head of service at the time, service manager, team leader, recycling officers, 
technical monitoring officers, enforcement officer and business support team. In total 13 
questionnaires were sent out and returned.  

46. Working relationships with supervisors and depot managers have remained good 
despite some of the operational issues caused by insufficient drivers. There were 21 
remediation notices issued which is 17 less than the previous year. Of these seven 
related to missed bins, seven for missed assisted collections, one for street cleansing, 
three presentation issues and three related to crew behaviour. The councils also issued 
three default notices during the review period. Two for presentation issues and one for 
missed assisted collection. A default notice results in a financial deduction from the 
Biffa’s monthly invoice.  

47. Based on Biffa’s performance an overall councils satisfaction rating score of 3.94 
“Good” was achieved which is the same as last year’s classification”. An analysis of 
councils satisfaction can be found in Annex B. 

48. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a guide to the assessment of Biffa on councils satisfaction: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

 

49. The head of service has made a judgement on councils satisfaction as follows: 

councils satisfaction judgement good 

 

Previous councils satisfaction judgement for comparison good 

 
 
 

Page 32 Page 34

Agenda Annex



 11 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT 

50. Other areas of note within this review period are: 

 South Oxfordshire confirmed by DEFRA as the second highest English recycling 
authority for 2020/21 with a rate of 63.6 per cent 

 Vale of White Horse confirmed by DEFRA as the fourth highest English recycling 
authority for 2020/21 with a rate of 62.6 per cent.  

 this review period includes the period of the third national coronavirus lockdown in 
January 2021.   

 driver recruitment and retention within the waste sector is a nationally recognised 
challenge and had a significant impact in the general performance of Biffa throughout 
this review period. This led to the suspension of the garden waste service during the 
review period 

51. Considering the performance of the contractor against KPT, customer satisfaction, 
councils satisfaction and the other areas of note above the head of service has made an 
overall assessment as follows: 

Overall assessment good 

 

Previous overall assessment for comparison good 

 

Strengths and areas for improvement 

52. Annex C records strengths and areas for improvement relating to the performance of 
the contractor in this review period.   

53. Areas for improvement identified in last year’s reviews and actions taken are as follows: 

 Complaints about non collections for WEEE, textiles and batteries need to be 
improved. 

 
The number of reported missed WEEE, textiles and batteries fell from 347 reports 
in 2020 to 153 reports in this reporting period, a reduction of 55 per cent. Biffa 
collected 49 tonnes of WEEE, 20 tonnes of batteries and 37 tonnes of textiles 
during the review period. 
 

 Complaints about the food bin being dropped after collection needs to be 
improved. 
 
The crews were reminded that they should be returning the food bins correctly 
and not dropping them unnecessarily. The actual number of replacement food 
bins reduced by 12 per cent compared to the previous year, although the reason 
for a replacement isn’t specifically recorded and therefore this reduction cannot be 
solely attributed to Biffa’s handling of the bins.   

 

Page 33 Page 35

Agenda Annex



 12 
 

 More consistent recording and collections from crews regarding contaminated 
bins. 
 

The crews were reminded that bins containing contamination should not be 
emptied, they should be tagged and left. The councils recycling officers have been 
working closely with the supervisors to identify areas where contamination is a 
particular issue, especially in bulk bin stores. The average monthly contamination 
rate in the review period was 8.21 per cent, an improvement on 2020 figure of 9.16 
per cent. 

 

 Crew induction content/repeated training on best practice collections behaviour 
adhering to council’s policies (including implications of incorrect behaviour) 

 
This is an ongoing process with every new member of staff receiving induction 
training, regular reminders are issued to all staff. 
  

 Some repeat problems unresolved 
 
There was a 44 per cent reduction in remediation notices issued compared to the 
previous year. A remediation notice is issued when there are repeated collection 
issues at a particular property. 
 

 Vehicle breakdowns impacting on collections 
 

This continues to be a problem and is exacerbated by the lack of availability 
nationally of certain parts required. Biffa are addressing this with the use of hired 
vehicles, although this creates a problem for textile/WEEE collections because 
they do not have the cages fitted. They also do not have the CCTV fitted. 

 

 Communication could be better/more proactive/information more readily available 
around truck breakdowns etc/when things have gone wrong – what direction the 
organisation is going in to remedy the problem. 
 
The councils’ receives daily depot updates setting out any issues with vehicles or 
staffing and Biffa management does inform the councils if there are any significant 
issues with collections as they occur throughout the day.  
 

 Response times from management is poor and often have to chase to receive a 
response 
 
This has continued to be a problem at times although once a reminder has been 
sent the response is normally very quick. It is an area of improvement that needs 
to be continued in the next review period. 
  

 We are keen to trial the electric bin lorry which I know is being investigated 
 
A trial was actual undertaken in March 2022 across the districts in a mixture of 
rural and urban areas. The main points from the trial were: 

 Identified very early on it was struggling to complete a whole round if doing 
more than one load of collected material. A vehicle would normally do two 
and sometimes three loads in a day. 

Page 34 Page 36

Agenda Annex



 13 
 

 With the current depot infrastructure charging took too long so coming 
back to charge mid shift was not an option, the vehicle had to be charged 
overnight. 

 The vehicle completed around 60-70% of the round depending on the 
distance from the depot the particular round was. 

 The feedback from drivers was very positive because of how quiet it was 
although some considered it was eerily quiet. There was no specific 
incidents but there was concern that it was too quiet and could be an issue 
for other road users who didn’t hear it. Drivers were also anxious that they 
may run out of battery power during the day. 

 
Currently the use of electric waste collection vehicles wouldn’t be an option on our 
contract for the reasons identified above, however manufacturers continue to 
make significant improvements to vehicles and battery performance and we will 
continue to review this for future service provision.  
 

 Improvement of the debriefing procedure and communication amongst 
supervisors.    

 
This has improved and has led to the daily depot update being sent to the 
councils and any incomplete rounds being incorporated in the update. 
 

54. During last year’s review the committee made a number of comments that were 
answered at the time, there were no follow up actions identified.  

 

Contractors feedback 

55. A key feature of the process for reviewing the performance of contractors is that the 
councils provide them with an opportunity to give their feedback on the assessment, 
including suggestions for improvements to councils’ processes.  This is included in 
Annex C. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

56. There are no Climate and Ecological Impact implications arising from this report. KPI’s 
relating to the councils’ Climate Emergency objectives will be included when a new 
waste management contract is agreed. 

Financial Implications 

57. Whilst there aren’t any financial implications arising from this report it should be noted 
that as a result of suspending the garden waste service in 2021 for a period of time, it 
was agreed that the councils would provide an extension to customers direct debit 
payments by three months. This did cause an in-year reduction in income for 2021 of 
£210,000 as those customers who were due to pay in January – March 2022 actually 
paid in April - June.2022. There was also a financial implication of sending out letters to 
all customers regarding the garden waste stoppage which amounted to £96,128. 

Legal Implications 

58. There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Page 35 Page 37

Agenda Annex



 14 
 

Risks 

59.  There are no risks associated with this report 

Conclusion 

60. This was an exceptionally challenging review period due to the impact of Covid on 
sickness levels and the well documented national driver shortage. The shortage was 
caused by: 

 driver training being paused because of Covid and therefore there were no new 
drivers coming through,  

 EU drivers being restricted from travelling due to Covid and Brexit 

 drivers taking the decision to retire or move away from the waste industry and 
take up different driver roles.  

This driver shortage led to the difficult decision to suspend garden waste collections so 
the crews could prioritise the other waste streams.  

61. There was a slight decrease in overall KPT performance from a score of 3.7 in 2020 to 
3.5 in this review period, despite this the overall performance rating remains the same 
as “good”.  

62. Biffa’s Business Continuity Plan had to be implemented due to the driver shortage 
mentioned above and as a result the garden waste service had to be suspended. All 
other services remained in place and while there were some delays all collections were 
completed by the end of each week. To achieve this Biffa worked over the weekends to 
clear any uncollected bins. 

63. The head of service has assessed Biffa’s overall performance as “good” for its delivery 
of the household waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary services contract for 
2021.  The committee is asked to make any comments to the Cabinet Members with 
responsibility for waste to enable them to make a final assessment on performance by 
way of an Individual Cabinet Member decision.  

64. If the committee does not agree with the head of service’s assessment, then this report 
will be referred to Cabinet for further discussion and a final assessment of Biffa’s 
performance.   

Background Papers 

65. None 

Page 36 Page 38

Agenda Annex



 15 
 

Annex A – Key performance targets 

 

KPT 
ref 

Description of 
KPT 

Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak or poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 
5, good = 4, 
fair = 3, 
weak = 2, 
poor = 1) 

KPT 
1 

missed 
collections  

 

No more than 
50 missed 
collection per 
100,000 
collections 

96 per 100,000 
collections  

weak 2 

KPT 
2 

rectification of 
missed 
collections 
percentage of 
substantiated 
missed 
household 
collections 
rectified within 
48 hours of the 
scheduled 
collection day 

100 %  86% weak 2  

KPT 
3 

percentage of 
household 
waste sent for 
re-use, 
recycling and 
composting 

Performance 
is measured 
against the 
official UK 
waste from 
households 
recycling rate 
which for 
2018 was 
45% 

Combined 61.93% 
 
 
 
 

excellent 5 

KPT 
4  

improved street 
and 
environmental 
cleanliness – 
levels of litter 
and detritus 

 

4% litter  
7% detritus 

1% 
11% 

good 4 
 

   
 

Page 37 Page 39

Agenda Annex



 16 
 

KPT 
ref 

Description of 
KPT 

Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak or poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 
5, good = 4, 
fair = 3, 
weak = 2, 
poor = 1) 

KPT 
5 

incomplete 
rounds – the 
number of 
properties 
affected as a 
result of 
incomplete 
rounds  

less than 
1,000 per 
month 

10,307 poor  1 

KPT 
6 

call centre – 
average time 
residents spend 
on hold before 
the call is 
answered 

35 seconds 86 seconds poor 1 

KPT 
7 

deliveries – 
New properties, 
Percentage of 
bins delivered 
within ten 
working days of 
the request 
being logged 

85% 99% excellent 5 

KPT 
8  

deliveries – 
Replacement 
bins, 
Percentage of 
bins delivered 
within ten 
working days of 
the request 
being logged  

85% 99% excellent 5 

KPT 
9 

fly tipping – 
percentage of 
fly tips cleared 
from high 
intensity areas 
within 12 
working hours 
of a report 
received 

90% 100% excellent 5 

KPT 
10 

fly tipping – 
Percentage of 
fly tips under 
three cubic 

90% 100% excellent 5 

Page 38 Page 40

Agenda Annex



 17 
 

KPT 
ref 

Description of 
KPT 

Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak or poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 
5, good = 4, 
fair = 3, 
weak = 2, 
poor = 1) 

metres, not in 
high intensity 
areas cleared 
within 24 hours 
of a report 
being received 

Overall “average” KPT performance rating score – KPT 1-10 (arithmetic 
average) refers to points 36-38 in the report  

35 / 10 
= 3.5 

 

Page 39 Page 41

Agenda Annex



 18 
 

 

Annex B – Councils satisfaction 

This assessment allows the councils (as a client) to record its own satisfaction with aspects 
of a contractor’s performance which lie outside Key Performance Targets and customer 
satisfaction.  Each officer with direct knowledge and who frequently interacts with the 
contractor should complete this form.  Some questions can be left blank if the officer does 
not have direct knowledge of that particular question. 
 
The numbers indicated in the following table are the total number of responses received for 
each question 
 
Contractor  Biffa Municipal Ltd 

 
From (date) 1 January 2021 To 31 December 2021 

 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       1 Understanding of the client's needs 1 9 2 1  

       2 Response time 1 9 3   

       3 Delivers to time 1 10 2   

       4 Delivers to budget 2 6    

       5 Efficiency of invoicing 1 3 1   

       6 Approach to health & safety 3 6    

                
 

COMMUNICATIONS AND RELATIONS 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       9 Easy to deal with 6 7    

       10 Communications / keeping the client informed 2 7 4   

       11 Quality of written documentation  11 1   

       12 Compliance with councils’ corporate identity  3 4   

       13 Listening 2 11    

       14 Quality of relationship 2 10    

 

Page 40 Page 42

Agenda Annex



 19 
 

IMPROVEMENT AND INNOVATION 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       15 Offers suggestions beyond the scope of work  3 4   

       16 Degree of innovation  3 4   

       17 Goes the extra mile 4 4 5   

       18 Supports the councils’ sustainability objectives  5 2   

       19 Supports the councils’ equality objectives 2 6 1   

       20 Degree of partnership working 1 6  2  

 
The following table is a summary of council’s satisfaction based on the completed 
questionnaires 
 

Rating  Responses  Score 
equivalent 

Total 
 

very satisfied 28 X 5 140 

satisfied 119 X 4 476 

neither satisfied or 
dissatisfied 

33 X 3 99 

dissatisfied 3 X 2 6 

very dissatisfied  0 X 1 0 

    

Total 183  721 

 
The overall councils satisfaction is calculated as follows:   
         councils total score ÷ number of responses 
 

          721÷ 183 = 3.94 
 
the head of service has made a judgement on customer satisfaction as follows: 
 

                                                                            Overall assessment  Good 

  (refer to point 47 - 49 in the report)  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 41 Page 43

Agenda Annex



 20 
 

 

STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

Strengths Drivers and loaders staff have worked amazingly over the last 
year and really pulled together despite Covid and driver issues. 

 H&S procedures that have been put in place in the depot have 
worked well. 

 Usually happy to accommodate last minute requests to fulfil 
customer needs. 

 Communication with supervisors on collection issues. 

 Provide a good waste collection service to majority of 
households in South and Vale. 

 Good at dealing with urgent requests 

 Always willing to accommodate late requests if at all possible. 

 Working relationship 

 The vast majority of collections take place with no issues 

 Very good working relationship with Operations Manager who is 
understanding and helpful in resolving issues 

 Approach to health and safety 

 
  
Areas for improvement Communication in general – verbal and written between crews 

and supervisors 

 Sometimes there’s a delay in the call centre and management 
responding to emails, which has a knock-on effect for residents. 

 Can be difficult to get Biffa to process an escalated complaint 

without raising with senior management. They need a robust 

procedure in place to identify when something needs to be 

escalated. 

 Crew training on round knowledge/assisted collections/bin 

placement/contamination. 

 Could be more proactive around work on busy roads/road 

closures 

 Increase permanent staffing levels, reduce use of Agency staff. 

 Ensure enforcement policies such as tagging bins are always 
followed. 

 Improve on those KPI’s not achieving their target, in particular 

the number of missed bins, incomplete rounds and the call 

centre holding times. 

 Use of PDAs to prevent missed collections 

 Deliver bins to correct address first time  

 
 

Page 42 Page 44

Agenda Annex



 21 
 

Annex C - Contractor 360° feedback  

CONTRACTOR’S REACTION / FEEDBACK ON COUNCILS ASSESSMENT 

 
 
The 2021 performance review covers a period of substantial challenges, such as COVID 
& instability in the labour market, with rapidly increasing labour costs. 
 
Whilst Biffa have made significant investment into the contract, particularly around agency 
pay, it must be remembered that income has remained relatively fixed. 
 
KPT 1 & KPT 2 
Both of the above were hampered by challenges with the labour market. 
 
KPT 3 
Collection tonnages have fallen, due to a combination of service suspension and the 2020 
tonnages peaking due to lockdowns / business closures / HWRCs closing.   
 
KPT 4 
Street Environmental cleanliness has improved during the review period, which is very 
pleasing.  
 
KPT 5 
Incomplete rounds has increased, which is a direct result of KPT 1 & KPT 2. 
 
KPT 6 
Whilst call centre performance was outside the target, the overall result was very close.  
This is a good performance when considering the staffing issues experienced.  
 
KPT7 & KPT 8 
Bin delivery performance remains very strong. 
 
KPT9 & KPT10 
Fly tip performance remains very strong.   
 
2020s labour marker challenges remained into 2021.  This provided challenges with staff 
absence, reliance on agency workers, reduction in EU workers.  As a result the 
performance period has produced mixed results.  However, the results also show strong 
performance in a number of area, even with these challenges.   

 

Page 43 Page 45

Agenda Annex



 22 
 

ANY AREAS WHERE CONTRACTOR DISAGREES WITH ASSESSMENT 

 
 

 

None 

 

WHAT COULD / SHOULD THE COUNCILS DO DIFFERENTLY TO ENABLE THE 
CONTRACTOR TO DELIVER THE SERVICE MORE EFFICIENTLY / 
EFFECTIVELY / ECONOMICALLY? 

 

No comment 

 
 

Feedback provided by Francis Drew  Date 16/08/2022 

 

Page 44 Page 46

Agenda Annex



 

Joint Scrutiny Committee Report   

Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author:  Mark Foster 

Tel: 01235 422201 

E-mail:  mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk  

South Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers 

Tel: 07850141623                                           E-Mail: maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk  

 

Vale Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Helen Pighills 

Tel: 01235 534446                                           E-Mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

DATE:  19 September 2022 

 
 

2019/20 performance review of 

Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL)  

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee considers Greenwich Leisure Limited’s (GLL) 
performance in delivering the joint leisure management contract for the period 2019/20 
and makes any comments before a final assessment on performance is made by 
Cabinet Members with responsibility for Leisure by way of an individual Cabinet 
Member Decision for both councils.  
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. The report and its format are based on the council’s performance review of 
contractor’s template and considers the performance of GLL in providing the joint 
leisure management service in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse for the 
period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. This is the fifth report of the joint contract 
which started on 1 September 2014. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

2. The review of GLL helps ensure that the councils achieve their strategic objectives in 
the following areas: 

 South aims to ‘focus on a sustainable recovery that prioritises community well-being 
and resilience as well as economic prosperity’. 

  

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9

Page 47

Agenda Annex

mailto:mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 Vale of White Horse aims to ‘help build and support thriving local communities, 
where everyone can enjoy the opportunity to live a happy and fulfilling life’ and 
‘ensure that our council and our district play their part in tackling the Climate 
Emergency’. 

 

BACKGROUND 

3. Managing contractor performance is essential for delivering the South and Vale 
objectives and targets.  The council’s leisure services are outsourced meaning the 
authority has established processes in place of working with contractors to deliver 
these services.  Working jointly with contractors to review performance regularly is 
essential in delivering high quality services to residents.   

4. The councils’ process for managing contractor performance focuses on continuous 
improvement and action planning.  The councils realise that the success of the 
framework depends on contractors and the councils working together to set and 
review realistic, jointly agreed, and measurable targets.  

5. The overall framework is designed to be: 

 a consistent way for the councils to measure contractor performance, to help 
highlight and resolve operational issues 

 flexible enough to suit each contract, including smaller contracts which may not 
require all elements of the framework 

 a step towards managing risk more effectively and improving performance 
through action planning. 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

6. The review process consists of three essential dimensions: 

 performance measured against key performance targets (KPTs) 

 customer satisfaction with the total service experience 

 council satisfaction as client. 
 
7. Each dimension is assessed by officers and the head of service makes a judgement 

of classification.  Contractor feedback and an assessment of strengths and areas for 
improvement are included.  The framework may be adjusted or simplified at the 
discretion of the head of service, where some dimensions are not relevant or difficult 
to apply fairly.  

8. This contract is the first joint leisure contract and runs from 1 September 2014 until 
31 August 2024.  GLL provides a comprehensive programme of activities and 
opportunities for residents and visitors to both districts to enjoy sporting and leisure 
facilities.  GLL operates facilities in Berinsfield, Didcot, Henley, Thame, Wallingford 
and Wheatley in South Oxfordshire, and Abingdon, Wantage and Faringdon in the 
Vale within an agreed management contract and a service specification document. 

9. The main deliverables within the contract are to:  

Page 46 Page 48

Agenda Annex



 

 increase participation in the council’s leisure facilities and participation outreach 
programmes 

 provide a varied programme of activities to cater for different age groups and 
preferences.  

 provide a minimum income from each of the remaining years of the contract of 
£159,089.40 to South Oxfordshire which has reduced and £1,138,136.40 to the 
Vale which remains unchanged.  

10. The figure for South Oxfordshire was reduced from £411,278.76 following contract 
renegotiations. This was due to the council having to operate the Didcot Wave and 
Didcot Leisure Centres beyond 2018, when it was anticipated a new leisure centre 
would have been operational replacing both of those older facilities. This was 
approved by Cabinet and Council as part of the council’s budget setting process for 
2018/19. 

11. The table below shows GLL’s performance for the previous and current year.   The 
scores are as follows: 

It must be noted that the Covid-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the Key 
Performance Targets set. Whilst the announcement from the Government closed the 
leisure centres from Saturday 20 March 2020 the overall impact affected the data and 
delivery toward the end of December 2019. 

Performance Dimensions 2018/2019 2019/2020 

Key Performance Targets Excellent Good 

Customer Satisfaction Excellent Excellent 

Council Satisfaction Good Fair 

Overall Score Excellent Good 

 

DIMENSION 1 – KEY PERFORMANCE TARGETS (KPT) 

12. This contract has fourteen KPTs. These KPTs were compiled in 2013 by a joint 
working group of scrutiny committee members at the time of drawing up the contract 
documentation and officers from the leisure and corporate strategy teams.  The KPTs 
consider areas of shared importance to elected members and officers in reporting on 
the contractor’s performance.  The KPTs are reported to cabinet members and senior 
officers on a quarterly basis so areas of success and concern can be discussed in a 
timely way. 

13. These targets were agreed at the start of the 2019/20 year using the actual 
achievements from the previous contract year and reflected anticipated trends and 
changes to services and facilities. The 2019/20 KPT results have been used to inform 
target setting for 2020/21 with reflection on Covid-19 using average historic figures 
achieved in the previous reporting year where the virus has continued to cause 
lockdown and will be used to develop the trend analysis that will happen as the 
contract progresses. 

Page 47 Page 49

Agenda Annex



 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak, or 
poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

KPT 1 Increased total visits 
year on year 

>3%  3% Excellent 5 

KPT 2 Increased total activity 
visits year on year 

>4% 5% Excellent 5 

KPT 3 Increased year on 
year growth of 
inclusive membership 
(disabled pre-paid) 

>10% 22>% Excellent 5 

KPT 4  Increased year on 
year growth of 
concessionary leisure 
card holders (pay and 
play) 

>1.5% -14% Poor 1 

KPT 5 Attrition (prepaid 
memberships only 
gym, swim etc. not 
swim school) 

<6.5% 7.4 Weak 2 

KPT 6 Average length of 
stay, direct debit 
members (excluding 
swim school) 

> 
13mnth

s 

13.17 Excellent 5 

KPT 7 Reduce customer 
complaints to 
Councils 

<60 52 Excellent 5 

KPT 8 Percentage of 
bookings made online 

>70% 68.5% Good 4 

KPT 9 Percentage of 
referrals completing 
Healthwise 
programme (GP 
referral) 

>70% 72.99% Excellent 5 

KPT 
10 

Conversion rate from 
Healthwise 
programme to 
Healthwise 
membership 

>65% 68.3% Excellent 5 

KPT 
11 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(electricity) Kwh per 
visit 

>4% -22.85% Excellent 5 

KPT 
12 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(gas) Kwh per visit 

>5% 10.15% Poor 1 

KPT 
13 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(water) cubic meters 

>10% -59.4% Excellent 5 

Page 48 Page 50

Agenda Annex



 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak, or 
poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

per visit 

KPT 
14 

Annual user 
satisfaction survey  

>85% 80% Fair 3 

 Overall “average” KPT performance rating score (arithmetic 
average) 

4.0 

 Overall “average” KPT performance (excellent, good, fair, weak, 
or poor) 

Good 

 

14. KPT 4 has not been achieved, this is due to the drop of concessionary members 
taking up or renewing their membership. GLL were due to launch a concessionary 
card offer in January 2020 to encourage residents to take up the discounted annual 
membership however this did not materialise due to Covid-19, and numbers were 
affected as a result. The impact of the pandemic affected the delivery of users with 
the impending concerns over what was due to take place. Officers will work with GLL 
on this option once leisure centres are out of the restrictions due to the pandemic. 

15. KPT 5 has fallen short of the target set and would have been due to the downturn in 
patronage at the end of December with Covid-19 looming. March results were 
removed to give fairness in the result and the impact of pandemic would have had a 
greater effect on the overall result. 

16. There was a significant improvement to the cleanliness of Abbey Meadow interactive 
water feature and the Riverside interactive water feature and campsite. Both water 
features require regular routine cleaning throughout their operating season to 
minimise the growth of algae. The team significantly improved the cleaning 
operations of both facilities resulting in only 7 complaints being made during the 
season, and reduction of 23 on the previous season. 

17. KPT 12 has fallen short of the target set and seems as though consumption in 
general was higher at some leisure facilities than others. 2019 experienced lower 
temperatures in May June and July compared to 2018. Outdoor pools being affected 
by lower patronage and higher gas consumption during this period in 2019. March 
results were removed to give fairness in the result and the impact of pandemic would 
have had a greater effect on the overall result. 

18. KPT 14 saw lower completion rates of the GLL online surveys being completed. 

19. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a rough guide to the assessment of contractors against 
all KPTs: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      

Page 49 Page 51

Agenda Annex



 

20. Based on GLL’s performance an overall “average” KPT performance rating score of 
Good has been achieved. The result in the previous year was 4.57 (Excellent). 
Based on GLL achieving an “Excellent” rating in 9 out of 14 KPTs which is three less 
than the previous year, the head of service has made a judgement on KPT 
performance as Good.  

21. Based on this performance, the head of service has made a judgement on KPT 
performance as follows: 

KPT judgement Good 

 

Previous KPT judgement for comparison Excellent 

 

DIMENSION 2 – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

22. GLL carried out and analysed customer satisfaction surveys during 2019/20.  Details 
of the questions asked are attached as Annex A of this report.  

23. The sample size for this paper-based survey was 1,454, a decrease from the 2,147 
samples achieved in 2018/19. These questions are aligned with GLL’s electronic 
survey to members. This has provided us with a more diverse customer base and 
enabled the potential for a wider group of residents to respond. 

24. GLL also operate an electronic survey using the same questions, but a percentage 
scoring matrix. In 2019/20 the number of surveys completed was 426 and an 
average satisfaction score of 80% or 4.0, a decrease on 2018/19’s score of 87%. 

25. GLL has achieved an overall customer satisfaction score in the paper-based survey 
of 4.42, which is a slight decrease from the 4.44 achieved in 2018/19. The weaker 
areas of service identified by this process and the additional comments gathered 
from the surveys help to form part of the action plan for the year ahead. These are 
included in Annex B. 

26. In addition to the customer satisfaction surveys, officers monitor customer comments 
received by each facility and those received directly by the council.  Any negative 
comments that could have significant service or safety implications are provided 
immediately to GLL to ensure that appropriate action is taken.  Positive comments 
especially when related to a named member of the GLL team, are also provided to 
GLL.  In Annex A, there is a breakdown of the number and type of comments 
received.   

27. The number of adverse comments reported to the council has significantly dropped 
when compared to 2018/19.  There were 52 in 2019/20 compared to 65 in 2018/19.   
The number of positive comments has risen from 2 in 2018/19 to 3 in 2019/20. It is 
clear from the detail found in the table in Annex A that the largest area of customer 
concern lies with the classes area of the service. These concerns ranged from 
cancelled classes, insufficient choice of class, quality of equipment or other related 
matters. The client team have raised concerns over the numbers of classes provided 
at some facilities and the way in which recruitment for instructors takes place. These 
discussions will continue with GLL to ensure that there remains a balanced 

Page 50 Page 52

Agenda Annex



 

programme of classes and that instructors are not required to hold unnecessary 
qualifications which can impede recruitment. 

28. Cleaning comments to GLL have increased slightly overall from 67 to 70, however, 
the number of cleaning comments to the council has decreased from 19 to 12, which 
can indicate that GLL are improving on their cleanliness which leads the council to 
believe matters are being dealt with a lot more promptly. The onset of the pandemic 
has seen a direct change to the cleanliness regime which would also indicate 
customers are a lot more comfortable taking part in their activities with increased 
cleaning in place. This aspect of the service had been acknowledged by GLL in the 
previous reporting year and evidence of actions taken place. 

29. It is encouraging that 382 customers complimented staff on their delivery of the 
service, and this reflects the majority of experiences that customers have when 
visiting our centres. All customer comments to GLL are reviewed at the monthly 
client meetings as part of the regular monitoring of the service. 

30. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, the following is a guide to 
the assessment of GLL on customer satisfaction: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
31. The overall score achieved by GLL for customer satisfaction is 4.42 this is a 

decrease on the 2018/19 score of 4.44.  Based on this performance, the head of 
service has made a judgement on customer satisfaction as follows: 

Customer satisfaction judgement Excellent 

 

Previous customer satisfaction judgement for comparison Excellent 

 

DIMENSION 3 – COUNCIL SATISFACTION  

32. Eight officers associated with the contract have commented on the council’s 
satisfaction with the delivery of the contract during 2019/20 – the combined scores 
are listed in Annex C.   

33. This is now the fifth year in the reporting cycle and both GLL and council officers 
have continued to develop and make improvements to the delivery of the service. 

34. Officers identified that the quality of the relationship and partnership between 
Council officers and GLL is good.  Centre managers and the Partnership manager 
remain very approachable and willing to help in all situations. Monitoring levels been 
varied throughout the year with some facilities raising concerns. Areas for 
improvement continues to be the GLL website in terms of ease of navigation and 
accuracy of information.   

35. During 2019/20 there have been significant challenges in operating the two outdoor 
facilities in Abbey Meadow in Abingdon and Riverside in Wallingford. This GLL did 
with great endeavour and with only one operational issue, which related to the poor 
standard of the Splash Pad at Riverside at the end of the season. Officers viewed 

Page 51 Page 53

Agenda Annex



 

this as a frustrating concern given the season for both pools and its surrounding 
areas were exceptional during the summer season. GLL acknowledged this slight 
failing and actively rectified immediately once raised. 

36. The way in which GLL monitor repairs and maintenance continues to be the use of a 
Computer Aided Facility Management system (CAFM). The client team have 
continued to monitor the use of this system with the GLL team to ensure information 
and works are maintained effectively. There have been changes in the Facility 
Management team from August 2019, and the recruitment of a new manager in this 
team. This recent change saw a drop in the active use of the CAFM by GLL, and the 
client team have had to step in several times to question the use of the system. The 
Facilities Maintenance Manager is now dedicated to South & Vale where the 
previous year saw this position looking after another district. Officers can see an 
improvement being made going forward with this dedicated resource.   

37. The council’s client team carry out performance monitoring visits to ensure that the 
services provided by GLL are in accordance with the contract agreement.  This 
includes monthly inspections, with incentives for GLL when they exceed 
performance expectations.  The table in Annex F shows the scores achieved in April 
2019 and then in February 2020 giving an average score between the start and end 
of the year (Covid-19 prevent audits being completed in March 2020). This resulted 
in an improvement of 1.8 per cent over the year from an average of 89.4 per cent in 
2019 to 91.4 per cent in 2020. Overall GLL have generally maintained the centres at 
a high level and services have improved with only three facilities seeing a drop in 
audit scores over the year of reporting. 

38. Officers continue to work closely with GLL to implement these changes and ensure 
the leisure facilities benefit from improved maintenance, monitoring scores and 
information flow.  It is however disappointing Officers still appear to be the catalyst 
for identifying reactive maintenance issues and having to request the CAFM system 
to be updated with supporting information. Officer have requested for GLL to get its 
management teams to liaise closer with its Facilities Maintenance Manager to action 
works and plan repairs in a more timely and effective manner. 

39. As part of the contract there has been a significant investment to the reduction of the 
leisure centres’ carbon footprints and to reduce energy consumption. In the reporting 
year GLL and the council introduced LED lighting in the car park at Didcot Wave, 
Faringdon corridors, Henley dry side changing rooms. New high efficiency air 
powered showers installed at Faringdon Leisure Centre and Henley Leisure Centre 
reducing water consumption by 50%.  

40. It is now widely recognised that sport and physical activity brings significant social 
value that can be measured by improvements in health, social, economic, and 
environmental wellbeing. These impacts are being measured in monetary terms by 
GLL using the latest research and via the Datahub Social Value Calculator 
(developed by Experian and Sheffield Hallam University). It uses operator data and 
sector wide benchmarking to give an insight to the value in community savings 
generated across four key areas – health care; education; wellbeing and crime. 
These impacts were first measured in 17/18 for the two districts. In 2019/20 the 
social value (i.e., saving our leisure facilities make to the local community) for South 
was calculated at £9,226,254 and for Vale £8,777,267. This was an increase of 12% 
in both districts, from the previous year. The social value increase value being 
£987,960. 

Page 52 Page 54

Agenda Annex



 

41. GLL’s community team have continued to work in partnership with the council teams 
to deliver some significant outreach successes.  Since April 2019 the team have 
worked individually and collaboratively with the council’s participation team to deliver 
a significant programme of community activities. These are detailed in Annex D, 
some of the successes include. 

 Fourth annual 55+ Better Club Games was a great success with South and Vale 
winning the trophy for the third time in a row. Last year was the biggest even yet 
with over 140 competitors. 

 In collaboration with several partners the White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre 
staged the World Cup ITF Future Series Paralympic Tennis Tour a qualifying 
event for the Paralympic Games in October 2019. 

 GLL continued to support the council with the local elections held at the White 
Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre with praises coming from the Electoral 
Services Team. 

 The GLL Sports Foundation contributed £81,850 of support to 140 athletes 
across both districts during its annual foundation support. It must be noted that 
93 per cent of these athletes do not receive any further funding support. 

42. Based on GLL’s performance, an overall council satisfaction rating of 3.65 has been 
achieved reducing slightly from 3.91 in the previous year. An analysis of council 
satisfaction can be found in Annex C.  

 This places GLL’s score into the category of Fair for this year’s performance.  

43. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a rough guide to the assessment of contractors on 
customer satisfaction: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
44. Based on this performance, the head of service has made a judgement on council 

satisfaction as follows: 

  

Council satisfaction judgement Fair 

 

Previous council satisfaction judgement for comparison Good 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT 

45. Considering the performance of the contractor against KPT, customer satisfaction, 
council satisfaction and the other areas of note above the head of service has made 
an overall judgement as follows: 

Council overall satisfaction judgement Good 

Page 53 Page 55

Agenda Annex



 

 

Previous overall assessment for comparison Excellent 

 

STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

46. The following highlights the strengths and areas for improvement relating to the 
performance of the contractor over the last year: 

Strengths 

 General Managers and Partnership Managers remain very approachable 
and willing to help in all situations 

 Monitoring scores have generally been maintained at a high level and 
services improved 

 Teams within the leisure centres are very amiable and generally very 
knowledgeable about their roles and the organisation 

 Teams continue to work well to deliver joint projects including major works 
especially on carbon reducing schemes and building projects 

Areas for improvement 

 GLL website in terms of accuracy of information which we suggest is 
down to the resource to update and review pages by individual managers 

 GLL website in terms of its ease of navigation for customers to find their 
preferred service 

 GLL facility teams identifying issues in centres rather than the client team 
providing work lists and the control in use of the CAFM system 

 Communication with Officers when service issues are apparent to ensure 
they are aware of concerns prior to hearing these from Councillors 

47. We have worked with GLL to develop an action plan to address areas for 
improvement.  The action plan is attached as Annex B and will be delivered in 
2020/2021. 

CONTRACTOR’S FEEDBACK 

48. A key feature of the process for reviewing the performance of contractors is that the 
council provides them with an opportunity to give their feedback on the assessment, 
including suggestions for improvements to council processes.  This is included in 
Annex E attached to this report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

49. Faringdon Astro Turf Pitch (ATP) has continued to be delayed in its delivery which 
has impacted the revenue delivery of the GLL contract. Officers are seeking a S77 
from the Secretary of State for Education. 

Page 54 Page 56

Agenda Annex



 

50. This follows an application being made under notification to the Secretary of State 
for Education of a disposal of playing field land under Schedule 1, Part 3 of the 
Academies Act 2010. Applying for the consent of the Secretary of State to a disposal 
of playing field land under the Funding Agreement. This land is owned by the 
Faringdon Learning Trust. 

51. Currently the council and GLL are discussing the financial implications of its delay in 
delivery against the Invitation to Submit Final Tender approved when the current 
contract was awarded. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

52. There are no legal implications arising from this report 

CONCLUSION 

53. The contract deals with more than 2.2 million visits each year.  The variety and 
complexity of the services provided by GLL demonstrate the size and scale of the 
task to meet thousands of customer needs and expectations. The impact of Covid-
19 is yet to be determined on how this will be affected going into the future. 

54. The future ‘new normal’ is yet to be determined by the recent pandemic and will 
pave the way to a different outlook on the delivery of services going forward. 

55. With recent changes at management levels, it will be key for GLL to ensure service 
delivery continues to exceed expectations. 

56. Considering the performance of the contractor against KPTs, customer satisfaction 
and council satisfaction, the head of service has made an overall judgement based 
on GLL achieving a Good, Excellent and Fair rating in the three categories.   

57. The head of service has assessed GLLs overall performance as ‘Good’ for its 
delivery of the leisure management contract for 2019/20.  The committee is asked to 
make any comments to the Cabinet Members with responsibility for leisure to enable 
them to make a final assessment on performance by way of an individual Cabinet 
Member Decision.  

58. The implications of the pandemic have hit the performance delivery of the contract 
and committee is asked to consider this in the overall performance delivered. 
Specifically relating to Dimension 1 where an assessment and final judgement has 
had to be made due to the impact of Covid-19 and Government restrictions being 
imposed. 

59. If the committee does not agree with the head of service assessment, then this 
report will be referred to Cabinet and a final assessment of GLLs performance 
made. 

 

Page 55 Page 57

Agenda Annex



 

ANNEX A – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

ACCESS Overall 

1 Ease of getting through on telephone 4.44 

2 Time Spent at Reception  4.47 

3 Ease of booking and paying at reception 4.50 

4 Ease of booking and paying online 4.45 

5 Range of activities available 4.43 

6 Opening Hours of centre 4.52 

7 Times activities are available 4.43 

8 Ease of Parking 4.44 

9 If Fast track pods were available, how useful were they 4.59 

FACILITIES / SERVICES   

10 Availability of product information 4.44 

11 Quality of available information on websites 4.39 

12 Quality of customer information available 4.44 

13 Water quality of pool 4.58 

14 Quality of temperature of pool and pool hall 4.40 

15 Quality and range of activity equipment available 4.46 

16 Quality of lighting in activity area 4.51 

17 Quality of flooring in activity area 4.44 

18 Quality of artificial turf pitches 4.12 

19 Quality and range of clothing and equipment available 4.19 

FOOD / DRINK   

20 Range available 4.14 

21 Quality available 4.24 

22 Value for money 4.22 

23 Reliability of service 4.26 

CLEANLINESS   

24 Changing Facilities 4.47 

25 Toilet Facilities 4.39 

26 Activity Area 4.38 

27 Café area if applicable 4.50 

28 

 

Reception Area 4.38 

29   Cleanliness of inside of centre as a whole 4.46 

30   Cleanliness of outside of centre as a whole 4.38 

CENTRE STAFF   

31 Visibility of professional, well presented, and uniformed staff 4.58 

32 Helpfulness and knowledge of staff 4.52 

33 Motivation and enthusiasm of coach/instructor 4.54 

34 If staff were available were, they able to assist you fully 4.52 

VALUE FOR MONEY   

35 Value for money of activities 4.49 

Page 56 Page 58

Agenda Annex



 

36 Overall satisfaction with your visit today 4.48 

Average Score 4.42 

 
 
The average score reached in 2018/19 was 4.44 across the contract and in 2019/20 the 
score was 4.42, which is a small drop on last year. The GLL team should be commended 
for their efforts and the client team will continue to work with the general managers and 
partnership management to maintain and further improve this score. 
 

Customer comments are also monitored.  The volume of comments received during the 
reporting year is detailed below and broken down by complaint and compliment and over 
the main areas of the operation to cause concern. 
 
Feedback received directly by GLL 

Type of Complaint to GLL Yearly 
Total 

2019/20 

Type of Compliment to 
GLL 

Yearly 
Total 

2019/20 

Cleanliness  70 Cleaning 30 

Staffing 13 Staffing 169 

Equipment / kit 54 Equipment / kit 6 

Communications / On-line / 
Phone bookings / website 

28 Communications / On-line / 
Phone bookings / website 

3 

Repairs & Maintenance 60 Repairs & Maintenance 4 

Temperatures 
(showers/pools/changing 
room) 

36 Classes 102 

Tired & shabby areas 24 Parties 7 

Opening hours 4 Memberships / pricing 8 

Classes / sessions / lessons  106 General facility  117 

Memberships / refunds / 
prices 

31   

Miscellaneous 42   

Vending / refreshments 5   

TOTALS 397 TOTALS 382 
 

In 2018/19 the number of complaints made to GLL totalled 536 and the compliments 
received by GLL numbered 398. The reduction in patronage and closure of the facilities 
due to Covid-19 will have influenced 2019/20 figures. 
 
Feedback received directly by the councils 

Type of Complaint to 
Councils 

Yearly 
Total 

2019/20 

Type of Compliment to 
Councils 

Yearly 
Total 

2019/20 

Cleaning 12 Cleaning 2 

Cleaning - Splashpads 2 Staff 1 

Membership 1   

Sessions / classes / 
bookings 

11   

Communications / On-line 3   

Repairs & Maintenance 2   

Staff 2   

Page 57 Page 59

Agenda Annex



 

Lighting 
(floodlighting/tennis) 

3   

Safeguarding  2   

Car Parking  3   

Pool temperature 6   

Miscellaneous 5   

TOTALS 52 TOTALS 3 

 
In 2018/19 the number of complaints made to the councils totalled 65 and the compliments 
received by the councils numbered 2. 
 
Three years ago, GLL introduced a new customer feedback mechanism called Listen 360 
which encourage customers to feedback on their whole experience. This encourages 
customers to actively feedback on their experiences which allows leisure centres teams to 
deal with issues in a proactive manor. The number of complaints to the councils has 
reduced this year and showing a significant improvement to the operation of the splash 
pads (reducing by 12 to only two over the season). 

Page 58 Page 60

Agenda Annex



 

Annex B – Action plan for 2020/21 

 

Action Owner Due date 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

Council 2020/21 

Riverside Outdoor pool 
refurbishment of the 
pool surround and 
replacement bin store 

Council 2020/21 

Upgrade Thame dry 
side toilets 

Council 2020/21 

WHLTC dry side 
disabled ramp and 
changing places facility 
to the Sports Hall 

Council 2020/21 

Faringdon Leisure 
Centre replacement 
Sauna and Steam 
rooms 

Council 2020/21 

WHLTC lifecycle 
replacement Gym 
Equipment as part of 
contract 

Council/GLL 2020/21 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance and 
issues in every centre 

GLL Immediate 

Ensure staff in every 
gym as per the contract 

GLL Immediate 

Improve Access 
Security at White 
Horse LC 

GLL/Council 2020/21 

 
 

Action Plan Outcomes for 2019/20 

 

Action Owner Due date Update 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

GLL/Council 2019/20 S106 funding has been 
applied for the changing 

rooms.  
Sports Hall project is out 
to procurement although 

slight delayed due to 
Covid-19 

Didcot Wave, improve 
wet side cleaning, 
improve air 
conditioning in gym, 

GLL/Council 2019/20 Air conditioning has been 
replaced and car park 

lighting upgraded to LED. 
Further roof leaks have 

Page 59 Page 61

Agenda Annex



 

upgrade café, add 
more equipment in gym 
and improve car park 
lighting 

prevented further 
improvements being 

made whilst these issues 
are rectified 

Upgrade Henley dry 
side changing rooms to 
match the wet side. 

Council 2019/20 Works completed March 
2020 

Upgrade Thame dry 
side toilets 

Council 2019/20 Currently out to 
procurement complete 

Autumn 2020 

White Horse Centre, 
improve wet side 
cleaning, manage 
waiting lists for 
swimming lessons, 
improve tennis courts 
outside, classes are 
too full, more weights 
in the gym. 

GLL 2020 Additional gym 
equipment and a new 
multi-functional area 

installed in April 2019. 
Clay courts serviced 
back in action in the 

summer 2019. 
A new cleaning rota and 
regime adopted which 
has seen significant 

improvements to the wet 
side area. These have 

been noted in client 
audits. 

Swimming Teacher 
recruitment has improved 

and waiting lists have 
dropped compared to the 

previous year’s report. 

Faringdon Leisure 
Centre, Refurbish the 
wet side changing 
rooms more car 
parking. 

Council/GLL 2019 Wet side refurbishment 
completed July 2019.  
28 additional parking 

spaced delivered as part 
of the school extension. 

Wantage Leisure 
Centre, more range of 
gym equipment, 
refurbish wet side 
changing rooms. 

Council/GLL  Reviewing s106 funds 
with the removal of 

Wessex Leisure Centre 
project to investment into 
Wantage Leisure Centre. 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance and 
issues in every centre 

GLL Immediate Still an ongoing issue on 
identifying maintenance 
tasks. New FM in place 

and should improve 
going forward. Officers 
will continue to monitor 
through the client audits 

being completed. 

Ensure staff in every 
gym as per the contract 

GLL Immediate Still times within leisure 
centres where there is 
not a gym member of 

staff available. GLL are 
doing pushing 

Page 60 Page 62

Agenda Annex



 

recruitment and have 
system in place to 

monitor the areas if an FI 
is not available. 

Improve recruitment of 
coaches/instructors 

GLL Immediate Improvements have been 
made and there have 

been minimal reports of 
instructor issues 

Improve Access 
Security at White 
Horse LC 

GLL/Council 2019/20 Phase 1 of the reception 
development has been 
approved with Phase 2 

pending approval. Covid-
19 outbreak has caused 
delays with being able to 

move this project 
forward. 

 

Annex C – Council Satisfaction for 2019/20 

 
This assessment allows the council (as a client) to record its own satisfaction with aspects 
of a contractor’s performance which lie outside Key Performance Targets and customer 
satisfaction.  Each officer with direct knowledge and who frequently interacts with the 
contractor should complete this form.  Some questions can be left blank if the officer does 
not have direct knowledge of that question. 
 
The numbers indicated in the following table are the average scores resulting from the 
total number of responses received for each question 
 
Contractor  GLL 

 
From (date) 1 April 2019 To 31 March 2020 

 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfie
d 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfie
d 

(1) Very 
dissatisfie
d 

       1 Understanding of the client's needs   3.88   

       2 Response time   3.38   

       3 Delivers to time   3.13   

    
4 

   4 Delivers to budget  4.00    

       5 Efficiency of invoicing   3.33   

       6 Approach to health & safety   3.71   

                
 

Page 61 Page 63

Agenda Annex



 

COMMUNICATIONS AND RELATIONS 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       7 Easy to deal with  4.25    

       8 Communications / keeping the client 

informed 

  3.38   

       9 Quality of written documentation   3.60   

       10 Compliance with council’s corporate 

identity 

  3.80   

       11 Listening   3.43   

       12 Quality of relationship  4.14    

 

IMPROVEMENT AND INNOVATION 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       13 Offers suggestions beyond the scope of 

work 

  3.43   

       14 Degree of innovation   3.43   

       15 Goes the extra mile   3.50   

       16 Supports the council’s sustainability 

objectives 

  3.83   

       17 Supports the council’s equality objectives  4.00    

       18 Degree of partnership working   3.63   

 
 
The following table details all the scores obtained from officers to provide the council 
satisfaction based on the fully completed questionnaires 

Rating  Votes  Score 
equivalent 

Total 
 

very satisfied 5 X5 25 

satisfied 70 X4 280 

neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

39 X3 117 

dissatisfied 4 X2 8 

very dissatisfied  0 X1 0 

    

Total 118  430 

 

Page 62 Page 64

Agenda Annex



 

The overall council satisfaction is calculated as follows:  430 ÷ 118 = 3.65 (refers to point 
40 in the report) 
 
 

KEY DOCUMENTS 

If required, has the contractor provided the council with annual updates of the following 
documents? 
   1. Updated equalities information              (Yes)  

   2. Updated utility information                     (Yes)  

   3.      Updated WAM information                    (Yes) 

 

  

 
 

Page 63 Page 65

Agenda Annex



 

Annex D – Community Activities 

March 2019 
Swimathon 2019 
 
During the weekend of 29-31 March swimming pools across South Oxfordshire and Vale of White 
Horse took part in Swimathon, the world’s biggest fundraising swim!  

 £14,450 raised in total 
 228 swimmers in total across both districts, an increase of 63 and 38% on 2017 
 Swimming pools taking part: White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre, Henley Leisure 

Centre, Faringdon Leisure Centre, Wantage Leisure Centre and Didcot Wave Leisure Pool 
and Gym 

 Large increase in participation at White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre (ran over 3 days), 
Faringdon Leisure Centre and Didcot Wave Leisure Pool and Gym 

 
May 2019 
Team South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse win Club Games  
 
Third annual 55+ Better Club Games, which is a celebration of physical activity and competitive 
sport for older people. The day was extremely competitive and showcased some great talent from 
the older generation. Team South and Vale won 3/6 of the events crowning the partnership for 
the third year in a row.  

 46 participants from South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse took part in the event  

 5 partnerships took part in the event  

 South and Vale finished 1st in Badminton, Walking Football, Table Tennis and Pickleball 

 The event showcases the work that Better and both District Councils have invested in over 

55’s activities  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 64 Page 66

Agenda Annex



 

June 2019 
GSF Awards South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse 
 
On 11 June at Didcot Civic Hall, South Oxfordshire, GLL held their 5th annual GLL Sport Foundation 
(GSF) Awards. This year 140 athletes from South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse have 
received an award compared to 137 in 2018, 115 in 2017 and 83 in 2016.   
 
The event took place to celebrate the successes of GSF athletes from South Oxfordshire and Vale 
of White Horse and athletes. Those who were awarded; achievement, top-up, ambassador or 
SportsAid were invited to collect a certificate and information on their award.   
 
The event was hosted by James Jebb (GSF National Manager) with presentations made by: 
 

 Pam Radley- Assistant Manager- Award announcer  

 Cllr Elizabeth Gillespie- Vice-Chairman of South Oxfordshire District Council 

 Cllr Margaret Crick- Chairman of Vale of White Horse District Council 

 Graeme Thomas – GLL Sport Foundation Ambassadors for South Oxfordshire 

 Gemma Bridge- Commonwealth Games Athlete 
 
Both Graeme Thomas and Gemma Bridge held a Q&A session speaking about their inspirational 
sporting journeys and gave advice to those younger athletes on how to compete at the highest 
level, and what sacrifices they have made to get to where they are.   
 
Aims: 

 Acknowledge SODC/VOWHDC most successful upcoming athletes and present their awards 

 Celebrate partnership with SODC/VOWHDC supporting talent and aspiring sports people 

 Discuss journey of GSF to date, past successes, and future aspirations 
Highlights: 

 Good atmosphere and strong attendance 

 70+ attendees 

 26 athletes presented with their awards and photos taken (photos to follow) 

 Q&A with ambassadors: Olympic Rowers Graeme Thomas  

 Q&A panel Gemma Bridge and Graeme Thomas 
 
UKactive conference & Awards – Manchester June 2019  
 
Physical Activity Champion - Viv Boorman – Health Walks 
Unsung Hero – Sue Auger – Disability Tennis Programme 
 
Both above were nominated by the White Horse Leisure & Tennis centre for great work helping 
groups participate in physical activity. Both Viv and Sue managed to reach the final of the UkActive 
Uprising Awards and attended a prestigious Awards ceremony in Manchester. 
 
White Horse Leisure & Tennis Centre also got through on the following categories but were 
unsuccessful.  
 

 Regional / National Centre of the Year Award 

 Inclusion and Disability Award 

Page 65 Page 67

Agenda Annex



 

South & Vale Business Awards 2019 - White Horse Leisure & Tennis Centre – Finalist 
 
The team at The White Horse Leisure & Tennis Centre were nominated for the South Oxfordshire 
& Vale Business Awards 2019, which is backed by both the South Oxfordshire and Vale of White 
Horse District Councils. 
 
As part of the awards process the team were invited to attend events throughout the calendar 
year including a Vale Business Breakfast. 
 
The team were finalists for the Category of Employer of the Year but narrowly missed out. 
 

 
 
 
August 2019 

I am Team GB Open Day 25th August 2019 White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre 

 

Inspired by the achievements of Team GB athletes and the amazing efforts of local community 

heroes, I Am Team GB has created the Nation’s Biggest Sports Day, taking place over the Bank 

Holiday Weekend.  There were hundreds of free and fun activities across the country, put on by 

amazing volunteers, known as I Am Team GB Games Makers. 

 

The White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre hosted its first ‘I am Team GB’ Open Day on Sunday 

25th August. The event was attended by Double Olympic Silver medallist, Commonwealth & 4 x 

European Swimming Champion, Jazz Carlin. The event was also attended by Cllr Margaret Crick 

(Chairman of Vale of White Horse District Council) and Cllr Helen Pighills (Cabinet Member for 

Community Services). 

 

In total 150 people attended our events which included, Adult Swimming Lesson, Pre School 

Swimming Lessons, Stage 1 Swimming Lessons, Family Mini Tennis, Family Pickleball session, 

Fitness Classes (Body Combat and Body Pump) as well as Free swimming between 10-12. The local 

Page 66 Page 68

Agenda Annex



 

Toyota Dealership sponsored the event by suppling water bottles, wristbands, GB Athlete and 

advertised by placing their branded cars outside the centre. 

 

 
 
September 2019 
Tennis Open Day  
 
White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre Tennis Team visited 20 local primary schools to offer free 
tennis coaching throughout September. Each child received a certificate inviting it to the Open Day 
at the White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre. 

 16 Schools visited in the lead up to the Open Day 

 185 children attended the Open Day 

 115 of those in attendance were new to tennis  

 
October 2019 
International Tennis Federation's Futures Wheelchair Tennis Tournament at the White Horse 
Leisure and Tennis Centre 
 
Between Friday 25 October and Sunday 27 October, the Whitehorse Leisure & Tennis Centre 
hosted the International Tennis Federation’s Futures Wheelchair Tennis Tournament. 
It was the last of seven World ranking events on the International Tennis Federations UNIQLO 
Wheelchair Tennis Tour.  
It’s the first time the event has been held in Oxfordshire. 
39 competitors from 19 countries around the World competed. 
The event was part of the yearlong qualifying period for the Tokyo 2020 Paralympics. 
  

The event was attended by: 

 GSF Athlete Louise Hunt who led the singles competition, 

 Ruby Bishop also competed. She trains at The White Horse weekly under the coaching of 
Marc Carroll (Former Para Olympian and Coach of The Invictus Games Development Squad) 
and Jordanne Whiley (Ten Times Grand slam winner).  

 
 
December 2019  
Vale of White Horse Pickleball Tournament  
 
White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre hosted its annual Christmas Pickleball Tournament for the 
fourth consecutive year. This tournament brought together all players that participate in weekly 
sessions across Oxfordshire both at BETTER leisure centres and in the community.    

Page 67 Page 69

Agenda Annex



 

 72 players  
 7 games per player 
 Organised by Megan Horwood and Gill Smith (Volunteer of the year nominee)  
 Attended by members of South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse DC- Go Active Gold 

Project  
 
Henley Leisure Centre and White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre’s Staff and Customers Donate 
to Local Hospital  
 
Both Henley Leisure Centre and White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre collected presents from 
customers and staff members for their local hospital. The Abingdon centre collected for John 
Radcliffe and the Henley centre for Royal Berkshire Hospital. The response was overwhelming 
from both staff and customers. 

 267 presents in total were collected 

 143 presents from Henley LC  

 124 presents from WHLTC 

 

Annex E - Contractor 360° feedback 

CONTRACTOR’S REACTION / FEEDBACK ON COUNCIL’S ASSESSMENT 

GLL believes that the Overall Score should not be applied for any period where ALL 

three Dimensions can not be scored for the year in full, in order to ensure a fair 

balanced result is achieved.  

 
Dimension 1 – KPT’s  

GLL was on track for Excellent at the end of Quarter 3. However, due to Covid Impacts 
beyond our control it was not possible to deliver elements of the KPT’s during Quarter 4. 
GLL notes that March results were removed and as a result a full year could not be 
scored. 
 
GLL subsequently scored Good for this Dimension which has dropped the Overall score 
from Excellent to Good.  GLL does not believe this is not reflective of our overall 
performance. 
 
For example;  
 
KPT 4 was linked to a project being undertaken by the GLL Community Sport Manager for 
South & Vale to issue Leisure Cards to the Berinsfield Community with these due to go 
Live in March 2020. However, this was not possible due to a combination of Furlough and 
Lockdown. 
 
KPT 5 was significantly impacted From December 2019 onwards with a higher than 
normal level of cancellations with Covid-19 looming. 
 

Page 68 Page 70

Agenda Annex



 

KPT 12 was significantly higher Gas usage due to the White Horse Combined Heat & 
Power Unit (CHP) being repaired and operational during this period which subsequently 
generated significant Electricity benefits as per KPT 11’s strong performance. This CHP is 
at the end of its economic life and at constant risk of failure with significant funds required 
to maintain its operation. This is a Council responsibility to replace. 
 

Dimension 2 – Customer Satisfaction 

GLL is proud of the overall score of “Excellence” with the average of 4.42. This was 
especially pleasing in light of the changes enforced on GLL during the period of 
government restrictions, and we are confident GLL can continue to improve our customers 
experience going forward. 
 

Dimension 3 – Council Satisfaction 

GLL is pleased that the council identified that the quality of the relationship and partnership 
between Council officers and GLL is good. 
 
GLL made improvements to its websites and launched a mobile Application to support with 
providing customers with information and improve the activity booking processes. 
 
GLL is also pleased with the improvements seen with the facility inspection visits and 
continue to strive to improve the scores and develop the facilities with the council leisure 
team. 
 
 
Feedback provided by Luke Askew & Kevin Williams Date 25.08.22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69 Page 71

Agenda Annex



 

Annex F – Client Monitoring Scores 

 
 

 

Contract Year 4 
 

   2019/20 
 

 

CENTRES 
Client Monitoring * Client Monitoring 

Variance 
 

 Apr-19 Feb-20 

 Abbey SC 87.2% 87.2% 0.0% 
 

         
 

 Didcot LC 93.8% 93.8% 0.0% 
 

         
 

 Wave 85.3% 90% 5.6% 
 

         
 

 Henley LC 89.2% 87.5% -1.9% 
 

         
 

 Park SC 83.3% 93.1% 11.8% 
 

         
 

 Thame LC 94% 91.8% -2.3% 
 

         
 

 Faringdon LC 92% 90.5% -1.6% 
 

         
 

 Wantage LC 85.4% 89.3% 4.6% 
 

         
 

 WHLTC 90.1% 90.9% 0.9% 
 

         
 

 Abbey Meadows  98.4% 98.6% 0.2% 
 

         
 

 Riverside 89% 92.8% 4.3% 
 

         
 

 Yearly Average 89.8% 91.4% 1.8% 

  

      * Feb 2020 was the last full month of inspections due to Covid-19 restrictions  

Only DLC, Wave & WLC were completed in Mar 2020.  
   

 

Page 70 Page 72

Agenda Annex



 

Joint Scrutiny Committee Report  

Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author:  Mark Foster 

Tel: 01235 422201 

E-mail:  mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk  

South Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers 

Tel: 07850141623                                           E-Mail: maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

Vale Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Helen Pighills 

Tel: 01235 534446                                          E-Mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

DATE:  19 September 2022 

 
 

2020/21 performance review of 

Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL)  

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee considers Greenwich Leisure Limited’s (GLL) 
performance in delivering the joint leisure management contract for the period 2020/21 
and makes any comments before a final assessment on performance is made by 
Cabinet Members with responsibility for Leisure by way of an individual Cabinet 
Member Decision for both councils.  
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. The report and its format are based on the council’s performance review of 
contractor’s template and considers the performance of GLL in providing the joint 
leisure management service in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse for the 
period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. This is the sixth report of the joint contract 
which started on 1 September 2014. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

2. The review of GLL helps ensure that the councils achieve their strategic objectives in 
the following areas: 

 South aims to ‘focus on a sustainable recovery that prioritises community well-being 
and resilience as well as economic prosperity’. 

  
 Vale of White Horse aims to ‘help build and support thriving local communities, 

where everyone can enjoy the opportunity to live a happy and fulfilling life’ and 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 71 Page 73

Agenda Annex

mailto:mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk


 

‘ensure that our council and our district play their part in tackling the Climate 
Emergency’. 

 

BACKGROUND 

3. Managing contractor performance is essential for delivering the South and Vale 
objectives and targets.  The council’s leisure services are outsourced meaning the 
authority has an established process in place of working with contractors to deliver 
these services.  Working jointly with contractors to review performance regularly is 
essential in delivering high quality services to residents.   

4. The councils’ process for managing contractor performance focuses on continuous 
improvement and action planning.  The councils realise that the success of the 
framework depends on contractors and the councils working together to set and 
review realistic, jointly agreed, and measurable targets.  

5. The overall framework is designed to be: 

 a consistent way for the councils to measure contractor performance, to help 
highlight and resolve operational issues 

 flexible enough to suit each contract, including smaller contracts which may not 
require all elements of the framework 

 a step towards managing risk more effectively and improving performance 
through action planning. 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

6. The review process usually consists of three essential dimensions: 

 performance measured against key performance targets (KPTs) 

 customer satisfaction with the total service experience 

 council satisfaction as client. 
 

7. Each dimension is assessed by officers and the head of service makes a judgement 
of classification.  Contractor feedback and an assessment of strengths and areas for 
improvement are included.  The framework may be adjusted or simplified at the 
discretion of the head of service, where some dimensions are not relevant or difficult 
to apply fairly.  

8. This contract is the first joint leisure contract and runs from 1 September 2014 until 
31 August 2024.  GLL provides a comprehensive programme of activities and 
opportunities for residents and visitors to both districts to enjoy sporting and leisure 
facilities.  GLL operates facilities in Berinsfield, Didcot, Henley, Thame, Wallingford 
and Wheatley in South Oxfordshire, and Abingdon, Wantage and Faringdon in the 
Vale within an agreed management contract and a service specification document. 

9. The main deliverables within the contract are to:  

 increase participation in the council’s leisure facilities and participation outreach 
programmes 

Page 72 Page 74

Agenda Annex



 

 provide a varied programme of activities to cater for different age groups and 
preferences.  

 provide a minimum income from each of the remaining years of the contract of 
£159,089.40 to South Oxfordshire which has reduced and £1,138,136.40 to the 
Vale which remains unchanged.  

10. The figure for South Oxfordshire was reduced from £411,278.76 following contract 
renegotiations. This was due to the council having to operate the Didcot Wave and 
Didcot Leisure Centres beyond 2018, when it was anticipated a new leisure centre 
would have been operational replacing both of those older facilities. This was 
approved by Cabinet and Council as part of the council’s budget setting process for 
2018/19. 

11. The table below shows GLL’s performance for the previous and current year.   The 
scores are as follows: 

Performance Dimensions 2019/2020 2020/2021 

Key Performance Targets Good N/A 

Customer Satisfaction Excellent N/A 

Council Satisfaction Fair Weak 

Overall Score Good Weak 

 

COVID-19 IMPACT ON CONTRACT PERFORMANCE AND DELIVERY 

12. GLL made a relatively good start to the reporting year however the Covid-19 
pandemic impacted contract delivery and created a significant economic and 
financial impact across the whole leisure sector. The impact of the pandemic will 
have an ongoing effect on the industry through operational restrictions and the 
reduction of demand in customer confidence due to the changing climate 
experienced. 

13.  On the 20 March 2020, Central Government required providers of leisure facilities to 
close as part of their response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Leisure centres across 
the country as a result closed for a duration of 8 months out of the past 12 for the 
reporting year. 

14. GLL immediately complied with the lockdown and closure of the leisure centres 
across both South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse District Councils. The 
closedown plans for the facilities outlined what GLL had to do to ensure leisure 
centres were safely closed in line with Central Government requirements. The 
council was provided with Business Continuity Plans (BCP) and Business Recovery 
Plans (BRP) as part of the control and revival throughout the pandemic. 

15. The BRP focused on what the Leisure offer would be following re-opening and how 
the new way of working with the restrictions that were imposed could be delivered, 
and to enable full and timely recovery once surfacing from the impact of Covid-19. 

Page 73 Page 75

Agenda Annex



 

16. GLL, along with all leisure operators, have been advised and guided by Central 
Government and national leisure bodies, such as UKActive, Sport England, Swim 
England in its re-opening and providing Covid-19 secure operations. 

17. The re-opening of leisure centres across South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse District Councils reflected a very restricted core offering due to the Covid 
restrictions that had been enforced. This impacted the programme delivery and 
offering at all leisure centres and also preventing some services within the facilities 
to reopen. 

18. The Covid-19 restrictions imposed and potential regulations that may be compulsory 
in the future, have had a large impact on customer behaviour coupled with customer 
affordability due to external pressures. Loss of jobs and household incomes leaves 
a significant risk on the leisure industry which tends to be tied into the category of 
secondary spend with everyday savings being the current norm. 

19. The Council negotiated a Covid-19 Leisure Support Package which was part agreed 
with GLL in line with the Government’s Procurement Policy Notice, and reflects the 
terms of the Local Government Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme, 
National Leisure Recovery Fund, and Clause 38 of the joint contract.  

20. The current joint contract allows for a five-year contract extension until August 2029. 
The councils supported a ‘without prejudice’ two-year contract extension to August 
2026, with a break clause exercisable by, and at the discretion of, the Councils at 
the original contract end date (August 2024), with the option for a further three-year 
extension, until August 2029. The GLL Support Package is yet to be agreed within 
this financial reporting year. 

21. Through the Government Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme, the 
councils recovered 75 per cent of 95 per cent of the 2020/2021 management fee 
payments. The scheme will also be available for management fees for April to June 
2021. Assuming it is successful in recovering the lost income from the scheme, the 
councils will be entitled to and will seek to recover the remaining management fee 
due from GLL in later years and for 2020/21 and 2021/22.  

DIMENSION 1 – KEY PERFORMANCE TARGETS (KPT) 

22. The impact on the closure significantly affected the delivery of the set KPT’s under 
Dimension 1. The scoring reflected around the delivery of the KPT’s are all reliant 
on customers accessing the leisure centres and taking part in the activities on offer. 

23. Due to the pandemic and furlough of significant staff during an unsettled year it was 
impossible for Officers to collate data from GLL on the delivery of Dimension 1 
during the restrictions set across the whole of the UK. 

24. The KPT’s set are agreed each contract delivery year however the pandemic has 
rendered the scoring unachievable due to the closures. The set criteria for the KPT’s 
can be seen in the report as a guidance without figures achieved. 

25. This contract has fourteen KPTs. These KPTs were compiled in 2013 by a joint 
working group of scrutiny committee members at the time of drawing up the contract 
documentation and officers from the leisure and corporate strategy teams.  The KPTs 
consider areas of shared importance to elected members and officers in reporting on 

Page 74 Page 76

Agenda Annex



 

the contractor’s performance.  The KPTs would be reported to cabinet members and 
senior officers on a quarterly basis so areas of success and concern can be 
discussed in a timely way. 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak or poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

KPT 1 Increased total visits 
year on year 

>3%     

KPT 2 Increased total activity 
visits year on year 

>4%    

KPT 3 Increased year on 
year growth of 
inclusive membership 
(disabled pre-paid) 

>10%    

KPT 4  Increased year on 
year growth of 
concessionary leisure 
card holders (pay and 
play) 

>1.5%    

KPT 5 Attrition (prepaid 
memberships only 
gym, swim etc. not 
swim school) 

<6.5%    

KPT 6 Average length of 
stay, direct debit 
members (excluding 
swim school) 

> 
13mnth

s 

   

KPT 7 Reduce customer 
complaints to 
Councils 

<60    

KPT 8 Percentage of 
bookings made online 

>70%    

KPT 9 Percentage of 
referrals completing 
Healthwise 
programme (GP 
referral) 

>70%    

KPT 
10 

Conversion rate from 
Healthwise 
programme to 
Healthwise 
membership 

>65%    

KPT 
11 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(electricity) Kwh per 
visit 

>4%    

KPT 
12 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 

>5%    

Page 75 Page 77

Agenda Annex



 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak or poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

(gas) Kwh per visit 

KPT 
13 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(water) cubic meters 
per visit 

>10%    

KPT 
14 

Annual user 
satisfaction survey  

    

 Overall “average” KPT performance rating score (arithmetic 
average) 

N/A 

 Overall “average” KPT performance (excellent, good, fair, weak 
or poor) 

N/A 

 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
26. Based on this performance, the head of service would make a judgement on KPT 

performance as not reportable due to the circumstances out of the local authority’s 
control: 

KPT judgement N/A 

 

Previous KPT judgement for comparison Good 

 

DIMENSION 2 – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

27. Customer Survey completion under Dimension 2. The closure of the facilities 
rendered the scoring card for these mechanisms of contract delivery as 
unachievable. 

28. GLL would have carried out and analysed customer satisfaction surveys during 
2020/21.  Details of the questions asked are attached as Annex A of this report. 
Unfortunately, the face to face interaction and completion of the surveys were not 
possible due to the pandemic and restrictions imposed. 

29. A reflection on the scoring and feedback from customers would be used to 
summarise scoring as below and the head of service would make a judgement on 
the score achieved. 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
30. Based on this performance, the head of service would make a judgement on KPT 

performance as not reportable due to the circumstances out of the local authority’s 
control: 

Page 76 Page 78

Agenda Annex



 

 

 

 

Customer satisfaction judgement N/A 

 

Previous customer satisfaction judgement for comparison Excellent 

 

DIMENSION 3 – COUNCIL SATISFACTION  

31. Five officers associated with the contract have commented on the council’s 
satisfaction with the delivery of the contract during 2020/21 – the combined scores 
are listed in Annex C.   

32. Unfortunately, officers from the Participation Team in Active Communities were 
unable to score due to no engagement with GLL during the lockdown year. 

33. This is now the seventh year in the reporting cycle and both GLL and council officers 
have continued to develop and make improvements to the delivery of the service. 

34. Officers identified that the quality of the relationship and partnership between 
Council officers and GLL has unfortunately dropped in the reporting year to ‘Weak’.  
Centre managers and the Partnership managers have had a difficult year with the 
pandemic either by being placed on furlough or picking up general day to day 
operation. Officers found it very difficult to communicate with front line staff during 
the restrictions and had to be reflective in the scoring.  

35. Staff remain very approachable and willing to help in all situations although the 
speed in which responses are provided have been somewhat lacking due to 
pressures outside of their control from Head Office.  

36. Monitoring levels been varied throughout the year with leisure centres being closed, 
and theses have been taking place when Covid Secure measures allowed. Officers 
had notified GLL of their visits during the contract year due to the ‘track and trace’ 
requirements. These would normally be conducted by unannounced visits.  

37. Areas for significant improvement continues to be the GLL website in terms of ease 
of navigation and accuracy of information. The navigation of the website has been 
worse over the contract year with Officers having to comment on errors, systems not 
being updated and inaccurate messages on the website to residents. 

38. Issues with the website have resulted in increased calls from residents as a result of 
not being able to contact the leisure centres directly. The significant lack in 
responses from GLL has left Officers having to continuously pick up responding to 
residents along with their frustration in the lack of service being provided. 

39. During the pandemic GLL reverted all their communication channels for residents via 
the Better Application and their Head Office. Authorisation to change this service 
from the contract specification had not been given by the council throughout this 
process although understandable given the furlough and protection of business 

Page 77 Page 79

Agenda Annex



 

revenue being paramount to GLL. This service was operated by a Customer 
Experience Department (CED) to align all enquiries and complaints by a centralised 
system. Officers experienced numerous issues and handled many complaints by 
residents direct to the council Active Communities Team due to the CED service 
either experiencing high levels of calls (without an automated message leaving 
service) or simply not being able to get through on the phone. It was noted that GLL 
have tried on many occasions to improve the handling of calls, but experiences 
have shown there has be little to no improvement on this provision to residents. 

40. The Computer Aided Facility Management system (CAFM) is a concern. This facility 
is there for GLL to report all their general repairs and maintenance items and 
Planned Preventative Maintenance (PPM). Officers have had to raise on numerous 
occasions the lack of use of the system. This has in turn caused more Officer time 
to question the history of items that need rectification rather than simply viewing an 
update via the CAFM system. There have been changes in the Management team, 
and the furlough of the Area Facilities Manager. This recent change saw a 
significant drop in the active use of the CAFM by GLL, and the Officers have had to 
raise issue on several occasions to question the use of the system. Concerns are 
that there seems to be a lack of items being raised by GLL on the CAFM system, 
and where they are these have been added from the Officers audit where the 
council have highlighted an item to be rectified and not their own. 

41. PPM records have been missing on numerous occasions and have resulted in 
Officers requesting for this to be updated. When records are within the system there 
have been times Officers have had to request updates on the remedial action being 
completed. 

42. The council’s client team carry out performance monitoring visits to ensure that the 
services provided by GLL are in accordance with the contract agreement. The table 
in Annex F shows the scores achieved between September 2021 to October 2021 
giving an average score between those two months of operation (Covid-19 
prevented a full suite of audits being completed throughout the reporting year). This 
resulted in a reduction of 1.3 per cent over the year from an average of 91.4 per 
cent in 2020 to 90.1 per cent in 2020. It must be noted in Annex F the lack of 
centres audited and covered over the year due to the pandemic and access to 
leisure facilities. Overall, it has been noticed by Officers a deterioration in some 
centres and approaches to reactive maintenance. Disappointingly this has resulted 
in a slight drop in score.  

43. As part of the contract there has been a significant investment to the reduction of the 
leisure centres’ carbon footprints and to reduce energy consumption. In the 
reporting year GLL and the council introduced LED lighting at Thame LC dry side 
toilets and creche, Didcot Wave Gym. Further improvements will be reported in the 
future reporting year as access has been restricted this year due to the pandemic. 

44. GLL’s community team would have continued to work with the Active Communities 
Participation Team however the pandemic immediately prevented this engagement 
and delivery during the reporting year.   

45. Based on GLL’s performance, an overall council satisfaction rating of 3.15 has been 
achieved reducing slightly from 3.65 in the previous year. An analysis of council 
satisfaction can be found in Annex C.  

Page 78 Page 80

Agenda Annex



 

 This places GLL’s score into the category of Weak for this year’s performance.  

46. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a rough guide to the assessment of contractors on 
customer satisfaction: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
47. Based on this performance, the head of service has made a judgement on council 

satisfaction as follows: 

  

Council satisfaction judgement Weak 

 

Previous council satisfaction judgement for comparison Fair 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT 

48. It must be noted that the delivery of Dimension 1 and 2 have not been possible due 
to circumstances out of GLL’s control and for Officers to deliver. Whilst a 
consideration should be taken to scoring the overall Scrutiny year it must be noted 
that all mechanisms available to Officers could not be scored as a result of the 
pandemic. 

49. Considering the performance of the contractor against KPT, customer satisfaction, 
council satisfaction and the other areas of note above the head of service has made 
an overall judgement as follows: 

Council overall satisfaction judgement Weak 

 

Previous overall assessment for comparison Good 

 

STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

50. The following highlights the strengths and areas for improvement relating to the 
performance of the contractor over the last year: 

Strengths 

 General Managers and Partnership Managers remain very approachable 
and willing to help in all situations 

 Teams within the leisure centres are very amiable and generally very 
knowledgeable about their roles and the organisation 

 GLL’s approach to Covid secure measures has been impeccable and 
widely recognised as far as the DCMS 

Page 79 Page 81

Agenda Annex



 

 Teams continue to work well to deliver joint projects including major works 
especially on carbon reducing schemes and building projects 

Areas for improvement 

 GLL website in terms of accuracy and use of information which we 
suggest is down to the resource to update and review pages by individual 
managers 

 GLL customer communications is slow and laborious. Residents suffering 
through lack in speed of responses and call handling. 

 GLL facility teams identifying issues in centres rather than the client team 
providing work lists and the control in use of the CAFM system 

 Use of the CAFM system in general needs to be a daily exercise utilising 
the system as a live system. 

51. We have worked with GLL to develop an action plan to address areas for 
improvement.  The action plan is attached as Annex B and will be delivered in 
2020/2021. 

CONTRACTOR’S FEEDBACK 

52. A key feature of the process for reviewing the performance of contractors is that the 
council provides them with an opportunity to give their feedback on the assessment, 
including suggestions for improvements to council processes.  This is included in 
Annex E attached to this report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

53. Faringdon Astro Turf Pitch (ATP) has continued to be delayed in its delivery which 
has impacted the revenue delivery of the GLL contract. Officers are seeking a S77 
from the Secretary of State for Education. 

54. This follows an application being made under notification to the Secretary of State 
for Education of a disposal of playing field land under Schedule 1, Part 3 of the 
Academies Act 2010. Applying for the consent of the Secretary of State to a 
disposal of playing field land under the Funding Agreement. This land is owned by 
the Faringdon Learning Trust. 

55. The financial implications of its delay in delivery against the Invitation to Submit Final 
Tender are being discussed as part of the overall GLL support package taken to 
council in March 2021. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

56. In April 2020, GLL asked the councils for a support package whilst leisure centres 
were closed and gradually reopened to the public. The basis of the request was that 
the Government, Sport England and Swim England’s Covid-19 health and safety 
requirements impacted the service and income levels whilst national lockdowns, 
then social distancing rules, remained. 

Page 80 Page 82

Agenda Annex



 

57. On 29 October 2020, GLL presented officers with a Transition Plan which focused 
on a package of operational and contractual changes to streamline services and 
reduce overheads and operating costs. The package of changes is necessary to 
give GLL a better opportunity to generate a profit and repay any financial support 
provided by the councils. 

58. Since April 2020, with advice from Bevan Brittan LLP and Strategic Leisure Ltd, 
officers have worked with GLL to negotiate a complete support package. 

59. The Covid-19 Leisure Support Package aligns with the Government’s Procurement 
Policy Notice, and reflects the terms of the Local Government Sales, Fees and 
Charges Compensation Scheme, National Leisure Recovery Fund, Clause 38 of the 
joint contract and is based on independent external legal advice from Bevan Brittan 
LLP and independent leisure sector advice from Strategic Leisure Ltd. 

CONCLUSION 

60. The contract dealt with more than 2.2 million visits prior to the pandemic each year 
at its peak.  The variety and complexity of the services provided by GLL 
demonstrate the size and scale of the task to meet thousands of customer needs 
and expectations. The impact of Covid-19 has decimated this position and made the 
current reporting year a difficult one to quantify. 

61. The future ‘new normal’ is yet to be determined by the pandemic. Slowly the leisure 
centres start to allow customers back into the buildings, but with heavily restricted 
measures and complex programming in place. 

62. With the recent changes the pandemic leaves the contract in a difficult position when 
establishing measurable outcomes at this stage. 

63. Considering the performance of the contractor unable to report on KPT’s and 
customer satisfaction. The only measurable dimension is council satisfaction, the 
head of service has made an overall judgement based on GLL achieving a ‘Weak’ 

64. The head of service has assessed GLLs overall performance as ‘Weak’ for its 
delivery of the leisure management contract for 2020/21.  The committee is asked to 
make any comments to the Cabinet Members with responsibility for leisure to 
enable them to make a final assessment on performance by way of an individual 
Cabinet Member Decision, and to take into account the circumstances by way of 
how difficult the delivery of the contract was for this reporting Scrutiny year. With the 
sites closed for 9 months, and proactively reopened when allowed, the committee 
are asked to consider if this year should be formally marked as NOT SCORED, 
rather than leave a legacy assessment of ‘Weak’ 

65. If the committee does not agree with the head of service assessment, then this 
report will be referred to Cabinet and a final assessment of GLLs performance 
made. 

 

Page 81 Page 83

Agenda Annex



 

ANNEX A – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

There has been no report provided by GLL on the customer satisfaction. The service 
delivery changed to a Customer Experience Department (CED) led by GLL Head Office. 
All direct enquiries and complaints have been handled via this service and removed from 
the leisure centre operation. 
 
Feedback received directly by the councils 

Type of Complaint to 
Councils 

Yearly 
Total 

2020/21 

Type of Compliment 
to Councils 

Yearly 
Total 

2020/21 

General lack of communication 
on re-opening centres  

15 Helpful staff 1 

Overflowing bins, litter, 
overgrown shrubs during 
lockdown 

2   

Increase in prices / 
memberships  

3   

Lack of covid compliance by 
teams  

2   

Refund and membership issues 
not being resolved  

4   

Lack of response to 
emails/phone calls  

2   

Booking issues - website, app  5   

State of outdoor courts  1   

Various misc. issues  5   

TOTALS 39 TOTALS 1 

 
In 2020/21 the number of complaints made to the councils totalled 39 and the compliments 
received by the councils numbered 1. A comparison of this is 2019/20 reporting year there 
were 52 complaints and 3 compliments. In comparison 39 complaints with 4 months 
operation was considerably high in comparison to the previous reporting year. 
 
Four years ago, GLL introduced a new customer feedback mechanism called Listen 360 
which encourage customers to feedback on their whole experience. Unfortunately, this has 
been removed as a service. Whilst this is not contractual this service did assist with 
immediate feedback from customers. This service did encourage customers to actively 
feedback on their experiences which allows leisure centres teams to deal with issues in a 
proactive manor. The number of complaints to the councils has increased and could also 
be due to resident’s inability to voice their experience through the removal of this system. 

Page 82 Page 84

Agenda Annex



 

Annex B – Action plan for 2021/2 

 

Action Owner Due date 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

Council 2021/22 

Replace gas boiler 
system at Faringdon 
LC with ASHP’s and 
Solar PV 

Council 2021/22 

WHLTC upgrade of 
pool lighting to LED 

GLL/Council 2021/22 

WHLTC dry side 
disabled ramp and 
changing places facility 
to the Sports Hall 

Council 2021/22 

Replace gym flooring 
at Didcot Wave 

Council 2021/22 

Improved 
communication to 
residents via social 
media/website and 
direct contact through 
enquiries and phone 
calls 

GLL Immediate 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance and 
issues in every centre 

GLL Immediate 

Improve Access 
Control Security at 
White Horse LC 

GLL/Council 2021/22 

Upgrade Sports Hall 
lighting to LED Abbey 
SC and Henley LC 

Council 2021/22 

Refurbish Didcot Wave 
filters 

Council  2021/22 

 
 

Action Plan Outcomes for 2020/21 

 

Action Owner Due date Update 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

GLL/Council 2020/21 S106 funding has been 
secured.  

Delayed due to Covid-19 
and considered for 

2021/22 

Riverside Outdoor pool 
refurbishment of the 

GLL/Council 2020/20 Completed April 2020 

Page 83 Page 85

Agenda Annex



 

pool surround and 
replacement bin store 

Upgrade Thame dry 
side toilets 

Council 2019/20 Works completed 
December 2020 

WHLTC dry side 
disabled ramp and 
changing places facility 
to the Sports Hall 

Council 2020/21 Delayed due to Covid-19 
and considered for 

2021/22 

Faringdon Leisure 
Centre replacement 
Sauna and Steam 
rooms 

GLL 2020/21 Completed December 
2020 

WHLTC lifecycle 
replacement Gym 
Equipment as part of 
contract 

Council/GLL 2020/21 Wrapped up with 
contractual negotiations 
and to be rescheduled 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance and 
issues in every centre 

Council/GLL Immediate Still an ongoing issue on 
identifying maintenance 

tasks. Officers will 
continue to monitor 

through the client audits 
being completed. 

Ensure staff in every 
gym as per the contract 

GLL Immediate Improvements made and 
evident staff in the gym. 

Due to Covid secure 
cleanliness requirements 
it was evident staff were 

on hand to support. 

Improve Access 
Security at White 
Horse LC 

GLL Immediate Wrapped up with 
contractual negotiations 
and to be rescheduled 

 

Annex C – Council Satisfaction for 2020/21 

 
This assessment allows the council (as a client) to record its own satisfaction with aspects 
of a contractor’s performance which lie outside Key Performance Targets and customer 
satisfaction.  Each officer with direct knowledge and who frequently interacts with the 
contractor should complete this form.  Some questions can be left blank if the officer does 
not have direct knowledge of that question. 
 
The numbers indicated in the following table are the average scores resulting from the 
total number of responses received for each question 
 
Contractor  GLL 

 
From (date) 1 April 2020 To 31 March 2021 

 

Page 84 Page 86

Agenda Annex



 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfie
d 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfie
d 

(1) Very 
dissatisfie
d 

       1 Understanding of the client's needs   3.00   

       2 Response time    2.80  

       3 Delivers to time   3.00   

    
4 

   4 Delivers to budget   3.00   

       5 Efficiency of invoicing  4.50    

       6 Approach to health & safety   3.80   

                
 

COMMUNICATIONS AND RELATIONS 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

              7 Easy to deal with   3.60   

       8 Communication/Keeping Client Informed    2.60  

       9 Quality of written documentation   3.25   

       10 Compliance with council’s corporate 

identity 

   2.75  

 

IMPROVEMENT AND INNOVATION 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       11 Listening   3.00   

       12 Quality of relationship   3.20   

       13 Offers suggestions beyond the scope of 

work 

  3.00   

       14 Degree of innovation   3.00   

       15 Goes the extra mile   3.25   

       16 
 
 
17 
 
 
18 

Supports the council’s sustainability 

objectives 

Supports the council’s equality objectives 

 

Degree of partnership working 

   
 
 

3.75 
 

3.00 

2.67  

Page 85 Page 87

Agenda Annex



 

       

 
 
The following table details all the scores obtained from officers to provide the council 
satisfaction based on the fully completed questionnaires 

Rating  Votes  Score 
equivalent 

Total 
 

Very satisfied 1 X5 5 

Satisfied 23 X4 92 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

37 X3 111 

Dissatisfied 14 X2 28 

Very dissatisfied  0 X1 0 

    

Total 75  236 

 
The overall council satisfaction is calculated as follows:  236 ÷ 75 = 3.15 (refers to point 40 
in the report) 
 
 

KEY DOCUMENTS 

If required, has the contractor provided the council with annual updates of the following 
documents? 
   1. Updated equalities information              (Yes)  

   2. Updated utility information                     (Yes)  

   3.      Updated WAM information                    (Yes) 

 

  

 
 

Page 86 Page 88

Agenda Annex



 

Annex D – Community Activities 

Radio & Media Lockdown 1/Restart: 
 
During lockdowns on a number of media and PR pieces occurred.  
 

 BBC Radio Oxford-8 Week segment (with home fitness exercises),  

 July-BBC South Today-TV Interview, 

 Jack FM, 

 BBC Radio Oxford (Breakfast, Afternoon, Evening slots) 

 Daily Telegraph Article-Hosted Jim White Writer,  

 Video for Department of Culture, Media & Sport on the covid secure measures,  

 Tim Henman visit for Slazenger Academy (Filming Promotion), 

  

 
 
 

Page 87 Page 89

Agenda Annex



 

Lockdown Two: 

 BBC South Today (Reopening), 

 BBC Radio Five Live Interview-Return of swimming,  

 BBC Radio Oxford Interviews (Breakfast & Afternoon),  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88 Page 90

Agenda Annex



 

Lock down Three: 
 

 BBC Radio Oxford Lockdown Learning, 

 BBC Radio Oxford Interviews x 2 Regarding Council Funding & Business 

Reopening 

 Channel Four News - Outdoor Fitness Classes & Tennis, 

 BBC South Today - Launch of outdoor Fitness Classes, 

 BBC Radio Oxford - Launch of outdoor Fitness Classes, 

 

 
Abingdon Food bank Donation-May 2020 

 The centre donated £600 worth of food and stock to the Abingdon Foodbank, 

 Stock donated included a wide selection of goods including Drinks and snacks.  

 
Tennis Match Play Tournaments: 

 For children aged between 6-8 years old, 

 Introduction to competitive tennis,  

 Gain points towards their LTA ranking (now called ITF World Ranking) 

 
November 2020 Lockdown 
National Lockdowns occurred across England Thursday 5th November until Wednesday 
2nd December and our facilities had to shut. However, due to some of our centres being 
dual use and schools remaining open, staff came in at Didcot, Wantage, Faringdon, 
Wheatley Park, and Thame to ensure the schools could still use the centres throughout the 
month.  
 
Teams looked after the buildings maintenance and cleaning to ensure all was ready for 
reopening and cleaned the sports halls and changing rooms every day for the schools 
after use to ensure they still had the same standard they would receive during normally 
opening times as well as the extra covid-secure cleaning required for them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89 Page 91

Agenda Annex



 

 
 
GSF Supported Athletes 
 
In 2020/21 South Ox & Vale received 144 nominations for the GLL Sports Foundation, 
which helps to support local athletes by funding or free facility memberships. 
 
Previous years figures are 137 in 2018, 115 in 2017 and 83 in 2016.  
 
The results show how important the local interaction with promising athletes in the area 
has been and is a further indication of the impact of the GLL Sports Foundation. 
 
Below are the split of numbers for 2020/21. 
 
South Oxfordshire 

  Awards 

TOTAL 84 

 
Vale of White Horse 

  Awards 

TOTAL 60 

 

Annex E - Contractor 360° feedback 

CONTRACTOR’S REACTION / FEEDBACK ON COUNCIL’S ASSESSMENT 

GLL believes that the Overall Score should not be applied for any period where ALL 

three Dimensions can not be scored for the year in full, in order to ensure a fair 

balanced result is achieved. 

 

Dimension 1 – KPT’s  

Not scored. 

 

Dimension 2 – Customer Satisfaction 

Not scored. 

 

Dimension 3 – Council Satisfaction 

GLL would like to highlight that they opened all required facilities at their financial risk, 
following the end of the first national lockdown, without a support package having been 
agreed, in order to support local communities and provide essential public services. 
 
GLL notes that the officers surveyed were not all in post for the majority of this period due 
to a combination of Furlough and alternative duties as a result of the 8.5 months of facility 
closures. GLL would also like to note that the number of officers being surveyed reduced 

Page 90 Page 92

Agenda Annex



 

from eight to five following the removal of the participation officer team (who historically 
worked very closely with GLL) which will have a material impact on the officer scoring in 
comparison to previous years.  
 
GLL were surprised to note that officers found it very difficult to communicate with front line 
staff during the restrictions. GLL worked hard to ensure that its management teams were 
customer facing to support enforcement of Covid Secure arrangements and Customer 
Experience improvements during the periods of restrictions.  
 
GLL Managers remained working in periods of lockdown to support in the operation of joint 
use facilities when these were requested to remain open for education purposes which 
further supported in communication with officers. GLL also deployed staff to Didcot Wave 
Pool to facilitate Council Improvement works to the fitness suite and leisure pool flume. 
 
Whilst GLL appreciates officer’s frustrations with the website, we feel we should highlight 
that the arrangements around government restrictions were constantly changing 
(sometimes with 24 hours notice) and that this had a material impact on accuracy of the 
website. Public announcements were often made by government with customers heading 
to the website for information prior to GLL receiving the governing body guidance. 
 
Due to receptions being removed and staff moving outside into Concierge roles and with 
back of house roles largely moved to customer facing or furloughed to keep costs to a 
minimum. A decision was taken to move to a Centralised Customer Experience Team in 
an effort to handle the exceptionally high number of telephone calls and emails being 
received as a result of the enforced closures and varied restrictions imposed.  
 
Whilst we note that there were complaints to council in relation to communication to 
customers during the first re-opening period, we would like to stress this was a very small 
number in comparison to the number of facility users and the volume of calls received, 
which was significant due to the complexities of the restrictions. 
 
GLL would like to highlight that during the lockdown periods they had advised Council that 
the licence for the CAFM system would be suspended to reduce costs however on 
returning the system to use all service records were subsequently uploaded and reactive 
maintenance logging recommenced from that period onwards. 
 
GLL notes the Officer comments in relation to the marginal drop in score for the facility 
inspections and would ask that it is recognised that these facilities had been put into an 
enforced and prolonged period of hibernation and then re-opened at short notice during a 
period of national restrictions. GLL also during this period had to completely rearrange 
every centres customer journey, gym equipment layouts and mark out every swimming 
pool, sports hall, studio, and other activity areas to ensure social distancing and re-train all 
front-line staff in a new way of working. GLL sees maintaining scores above 90% during 
this period as an achievement. 
 
 
Feedback provided by Luke Askew & Kevin Williams Date 25.08.22 

 

 

Page 91 Page 93

Agenda Annex



 

 

Annex F – Client Monitoring Scores 

 
 

 

Contract Year 4 
 

   2020/21 
 

 

CENTRES 
Client Monitoring * Client Monitoring 

Variance 
 

 Sep -20 Oct - 20 

 Abbey SC 85.4% 86.6% +1.2%   

       

Didcot LC - - -   

       

Wave - 92.4% -   

       

Henley LC - 86.4% -   

       

Park SC 91.0% 92.4% +1.4%   

       

Thame LC - 93.7% -   

       

Faringdon LC 92.0% 91.6% -0.4%   

       

Wantage LC 88.2% 90.1% +1.9%   

       

WHLTC - 91.5% -   

       

Abbey Meadows  - - -   

       

Riverside - - -   

       

  

      

 

   

*Scoring marked on those completed. Therefore, average scores during operations taken 

Page 92 Page 94

Agenda Annex



 

Joint Scrutiny Committee Report  

Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author:  Mark Foster 

Tel: 01235 422201 

E-mail:  mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk  

South Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers 

Tel: 07850141623                                           E-Mail: maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk  

 

Vale Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Helen Pighills 

Tel: 01235 534446                                          E-Mail: helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

DATE:  19 September 2022 

 
 

2021/22 performance review of 

Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL)  

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee considers Greenwich Leisure Limited’s (GLL) 
performance in delivering the joint leisure management contract for the period 2021/22 
and makes any comments before a final assessment on performance is made by 
Cabinet Members with responsibility for Leisure by way of an individual Cabinet 
Member Decision for both councils.  
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. The report and its format are based on the council’s performance review of 
contractor’s template and considers the performance of GLL in providing the joint 
leisure management service in South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse for the 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. This is the seventh report of the joint contract 
which started on 1 September 2014. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

2. The review of GLL helps ensure that the councils achieve their strategic objectives in 
the following areas: 

 South aims to ‘focus on a sustainable recovery that prioritises community well-being 
and resilience as well as economic prosperity’. 

  
  

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 93 Page 95

Agenda Annex

mailto:mark.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:helen.pighills@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 Vale of White Horse aims to ‘help build and support thriving local communities, 
where everyone can enjoy the opportunity to live a happy and fulfilling life’ and 
‘ensure that our council and our district play their part in tackling the Climate 
Emergency’. 
 

BACKGROUND 

3. Managing contractor performance is essential for delivering the South and Vale 
objectives and targets.  The council’s leisure services are outsourced meaning the 
authority has an established process in place of working with contractors to deliver 
these services. Working jointly with contractors to review performance regularly is 
essential in delivering high quality services to residents.   

4. The councils’ process for managing contractor performance focuses on continuous 
improvement and action planning.  The councils realise that the success of the 
framework depends on contractors and the councils working together to set and 
review realistic, jointly agreed, and measurable targets.  

5. The overall framework is designed to be: 

 a consistent way for the councils to measure contractor performance, to help 
highlight and resolve operational issues 

 flexible enough to suit each contract, including smaller contracts which may not 
require all elements of the framework 

 a step towards managing risk more effectively and improving performance 
through action planning. 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

6. The review process usually consists of three essential dimensions: 

 performance measured against key performance targets (KPTs) 

 customer satisfaction with the total service experience 

 council satisfaction as client. 
 

7. Each dimension is assessed by officers and the head of service makes a judgement 
of classification.  Contractor feedback and an assessment of strengths and areas for 
improvement are included.  The framework may be adjusted or simplified at the 
discretion of the head of service, where some dimensions are not relevant or difficult 
to apply fairly.  

8. This contract is the first joint leisure contract and runs from 1 September 2014 until 
31 August 2026.  The contract extension is part of the GLL Support Package agreed 
during the pandemic and signed by way of a Deed of Variation on 12 May 2022.  

9. GLL provides a comprehensive programme of activities and opportunities for 
residents and visitors to both districts to enjoy sporting and leisure facilities.  GLL 
operates facilities in Berinsfield, Didcot, Henley, Thame, Wallingford and Wheatley 
in South Oxfordshire, and Abingdon, Wantage and Faringdon in the Vale within an 
agreed management contract and a service specification document. 

 

Page 94 Page 96

Agenda Annex



 

 

10. The main deliverables within the contract are to:  

 increase participation in the council’s leisure facilities and participation outreach 
programmes 

 provide a varied programme of activities to cater for different age groups and 
preferences.  

 provide a minimum income from each of the remaining years of the contract of 
£127,817.02 (plus Retail Price Index each subsequent year thereafter) to South 
Oxfordshire which has reduced and £1,309,713.48 (plus Retail Price Index each 
subsequent year thereafter) to the Vale which has reduced.  

11. The figure for South Oxfordshire was reduced from £411,278.76 following contract 
renegotiations. This was due to the council having to operate the Didcot Wave and 
Didcot Leisure Centres beyond 2018, when it was anticipated a new leisure centre 
would have been operational replacing both of those older facilities. This was 
approved by Cabinet and Council as part of the council’s budget setting process for 
2018/19. 

12. During Covid-19 the council negotiated with GLL a support package by way of Deed 
of Variation to alter the existing contract through the impact of the pandemic. 
Management fee adjustments were supported to enable the continuation of leisure 
centre provision in the wake of Covid-19. The support package was presented at a 
confidential Scrutiny meeting held on 27 June for South and 28 June for Vale. 

13. The table below shows GLL’s performance for the previous and current year. The 
scores are as follows: 

Performance Dimensions 2020/2021 2021/2022 

Key Performance Targets N/A N/A 

Customer Satisfaction N/A Excellent 

Council Satisfaction Weak Fair 

Overall Score Weak Good 

 

COVID-19 IMPACT ON CONTRACT PERFORMANCE AND DELIVERY 

14. The Covid-19 pandemic continue to impact contract delivery and created a 
significant economic and financial impact across the whole leisure sector. Ongoing 
operational restrictions and the reduction of demand in customer confidence due to 
the changing climate continued to be experienced. 

15. The decision was made by the council in March 2021 to provide GLL with financial 
support resulting from the impact of Covid-19 on the operation of the council’s 
leisure facilities. Further negotiations were conducted between the council and a 
final agreement was made by way of a supplementary Deed of Variation to the 
existing contract early 2022. 

Page 95 Page 97

Agenda Annex



 

16. The agreed support package enabled the continuation of an extended contract with 
GLL and ensuring all leisure facilities within both South Oxfordshire and the Vale of 
White Horse could remain open. Removing the risk of any closing of our leisure 
facilities which have been experienced across the rest of the UK. 

17. The re-opening of leisure centres across South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse District Councils reflected a very restricted core offering due to the Covid 
restrictions that had been enforced. This continued to impact the programme 
delivery and offering at all leisure centres and preventing some services within the 
facilities to reopen. 

18. The current joint contract allows for a further 3-year contract extension until August 
2029 should the council wish to consider discussions at a later stage in the contract 
delivery. 

19. Through the Government Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme, the 
councils recovered 75 per cent of 95 per cent of the 2021/2022 management fee 
payments for the period April – June 2021.  

DIMENSION 1 – KEY PERFORMANCE TARGETS (KPT) 

20. The impact on the closure and imposed restrictions has significantly affected the 
delivery of the set KPT’s under Dimension 1. The scoring reflected around the 
delivery of the KPT’s are all reliant on customers accessing the leisure centres and 
taking part in the activities on offer without closures or restricted use. 

21. Due to the ongoing restrictions imposed by the Government due to the pandemic 
and furlough of significant staff during an unsettled year it was impossible for 
Officers to collate data from GLL on the delivery of Dimension 1 during the 
restrictions set across the whole of the UK. 

22. The KPT’s set are agreed each contract delivery year however the reduce capacity 
set by restrictions during the pandemic has rendered the scoring unachievable due 
leisure facilities inability to operate in normal conditions. The set criteria for the 
KPT’s can be seen in the report as a guidance without figures achieved. 

23. This contract has fourteen KPTs. These KPTs were compiled in 2013 by a joint 
working group of scrutiny committee members at the time of drawing up the contract 
documentation and officers from the leisure and corporate strategy teams.  The KPTs 
consider areas of shared importance to elected members and officers in reporting on 
the contractor’s performance.  The KPTs would be reported to cabinet members and 
senior officers on a quarterly basis so areas of success and concern can be 
discussed in a timely way. 

24. KPT’s can be set for 2022/23 reporting year to support the leisure industry coming 
back to normal operations. During the GLL Support Package Officers are using a 
financial target both for revenue and Profit/Loss accounting. These targets will be 
agreed within the set KPT’s where other KPT’s cannot be achieved. These KPT’s are 
5 and 6 where historic live membership levels remain to allow the target to be set. 
This is not possible as both Attrition and Average Length of Stay has reset the data 
back to zero through the loss of live members during the pandemic. As finance 
performance is critical to the performance of the contract through the negotiations 

Page 96 Page 98

Agenda Annex



 

that have taken place it is key to include these targets in any future setting of the 
performance delivery. 

25. The removal of KPT 9 and 10 will take place in 2022/23. After the pandemic the 
Active Communities Team have been managing the GP referral process. This has 
seen leisure centres referrals drop significantly where the application was managed 
by the operator before the pandemic. As these targets are reliant on an external 
source on numbers it would be unfair to apply a KPT to is delivery when the impact is 
not in the GLL’s demise to control. 

26. To replace KPT’s 9 and 10 is to include the KPT for Social Value calculation. This 
mechanism of data allows GLL combined with academic research and sector wide 
benchmarks to determine in monetary terms the value that physical activity within 
council facilities and programmes is making on the local community. The data will 
give an insight to the value in community savings generated across four key areas: 
Health care, Education, Wellbeing and Crime. 

27. KPT’s 11, 12 13 will change slightly as the current performance relates to customer 
usage. As the pandemic has changed this process it would be more viable to relate 
this directly to consumption reduction supporting both council Climate Action Plan 
2022-24 against the data supplied on Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2019/20 with 
SODC leisure facilities at 46.8 per cent of emissions and VOWHDC leisure facilities 
at 51.0 per cent. Targets therefore will be set directly at emission savings. 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak, or 
poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

KPT 1 Increased total visits 
year on year 

>3%     

KPT 2 Increased total activity 
visits year on year 

>4%    

KPT 3 Increased year on 
year growth of 
inclusive membership 
(disabled pre-paid) 

>10%    

KPT 4  Increased year on 
year growth of 
concessionary leisure 
card holders (pay and 
play) 

>1.5%    

KPT 5 Attrition (prepaid 
memberships only 
gym, swim etc. not 
swim school) 

<6.5% REMOVE   

KPT 6 Average length of 
stay, direct debit 
members (excluding 
swim school) 

> 
13mnth

s 

REMOVE   

KPT 7 Reduce customer <60    

Page 97 Page 99

Agenda Annex



 

KPT 
ref 

Description of KPT Target Performance Individual 
KPT rating 
(excellent, 
good, fair, 
weak, or 
poor) 

KPT rating 
score 
(excellent = 5, 
good = 4, 
fair = 3, weak 
= 2, poor = 1) 

complaints to 
Councils 

KPT 8 Percentage of 
bookings made online 

>70%    

KPT 9 Percentage of 
referrals completing 
Healthwise 
programme (GP 
referral) 

>70% REMOVE   

KPT 
10 

Conversion rate from 
Healthwise 
programme to 
Healthwise 
membership 

>65% REMOVE   

KPT 
11 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(electricity) Kwh per 
visit 

>4%    

KPT 
12 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(gas) Kwh per visit 

>5%    

KPT 
13 

Decreased year on 
year energy usage 
(water) cubic meters 
per visit 

>10%    

KPT 
14 

Annual user 
satisfaction survey  

    

 Overall “average” KPT performance rating score (arithmetic 
average) 

N/A 

 Overall “average” KPT performance (excellent, good, fair, weak, 
or poor) 

N/A 

 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
28. Based on this performance, the head of service would make a judgement on KPT 

performance as not reportable due to the circumstances out of the local authority’s 
control: 

KPT judgement N/A 

 

Previous KPT judgement for comparison N/A 

 

Page 98 Page 100

Agenda Annex



 

DIMENSION 2 – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

29. GLL carried out and analysed customer satisfaction surveys during January – March 
2022.  Details of the questions asked are attached as Annex A of this report.  

30. The sample size for this paper-based survey was 841 a decrease from the 1,454 
samples achieved in 2019/20. These questions were aligned with GLL’s electronic 
survey to members however due to the pandemic GLL did not run their annual user 
survey corporately during this time.  

31. Officers felt that whilst there were ongoing contract negotiations with GLL it was 
important where possible to ensure our residents continued to feedback on the 
services being provided by our operator, and therefore the request was made for 
GLL to continue obtaining feedback on the services being provided. 

32. GLL has operated an electronic survey using the same questions, but due to the 
pandemic and reduced operations this survey has not been completed this reporting 
year. It must be noted that the electronic survey conducted by GLL does not form 
the basis of the summary scoring for this dimension. 

33. GLL has achieved an overall customer satisfaction score in the paper-based survey 
of 4.42, which is the same achieved in 2019/20 with a lower completion rate. The 
average of both scores, equates to 4.42. The weaker areas of service identified by 
this process and the additional comments gathered from the surveys help to form 
part of the action plan for the year ahead. These are included in Annex B. 

34. In addition to the customer satisfaction surveys, officers monitor customer comments 
received by each facility and those received directly by the council.  Any negative 
comments that could have significant service or safety implications are provided 
immediately to GLL to ensure that appropriate action is taken.  Positive comments 
especially when related to a named member of the GLL team, are also provided to 
GLL.  In Annex A, there is a breakdown of the number and type of comments 
received.   

35. The number of adverse comments reported to the council has increased when 
compared to 2020/21.  There were 61 in 2021/22 compared to 39 in 2020/21.   The 
number of positive comments has risen from 1 in 2020/21 to 12 in 2021/22. It is 
clear from the detail found in the table in Annex A that the largest area of customer 
concern lies with booking issues and cleanliness. The impact of the pandemic 
placed a great pressure on bookings and advanced payment for activities. Officers 
have raised concerns over the bookings, and improvements are being made. GLL 
have made various upgrades to their IT systems which should eliminated these 
issues going forward.  

36. Cleaning comments to GLL have increased compared to the previous year however 
similar to those received in 2019/20. Most of the cleaning issues were related to 
Wantage Leisure Centre and detailed in Annex A. 

37. GLL’s customer service is directly managed through their Customer Experience 
Department (CED). GLL are yet to provide a full report detailing the logging of their 
complaints as part of this process. Officers have raised this as an important request 
to ensure numbers of direct leisure centre complaints can also be monitored. 

Page 99 Page 101

Agenda Annex



 

38. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, the following is a guide to 
the assessment of GLL on customer satisfaction: 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
39. Based on this performance, the head of service would make a judgement on KPT 

performance as not reportable due to the circumstances out of the local authority’s 
control: 

Customer satisfaction judgement Excellent 

 

Previous customer satisfaction judgement for comparison N/A 

 

DIMENSION 3 – COUNCIL SATISFACTION  

40. Four officers associated with the contract have commented on the council’s 
satisfaction with the delivery of the contract during 2021/22 – the combined scores 
are listed in Annex C.  A change in the management left the Economic Development 
& Active Communities Manager unable to mark the reporting year. 

41. Unfortunately, officers from the Participation Team in Active Communities were 
unable to score due to no engagement with GLL during the year and restrictions in 
place preventing a development in activity. 

42. This is now the seventh year in the reporting cycle and both GLL and council officers 
have continued to develop and make improvements to the delivery of the service. 

43. Officers identified that the quality of the relationship and partnership between 
Council officers and GLL has improved slightly in the reporting year to ‘Fair’.  Centre 
managers and the Partnership managers have had a difficult year with the 
pandemic either by being placed on furlough or picking up general day to day 
operation. Officers have continued to find it very difficult to communicate with front 
line staff during the restrictions however this has improved somewhat with the 
easing of the conditions around the pandemic.  

44. Staff remain very approachable and willing to help in all situations although the 
speed in which responses are provided have been somewhat lacking. Financial 
information has been very delayed and the Oxfordshire County Council recharges 
under the Joint Use Agreements have been very slow. This has been a big 
frustration for Officers especially when it is a third parties account that needs to be 
cleared.  

45. Monitoring levels been achieved this reporting year with only Didcot Leisure Centre 
starting back up in September 2021 due to the GLL support package negotiations. 
The process of auditing went back to unannounced visits given Covid-19 restrictions 
had eased.  

46. Areas for significant improvement has been GLL’s Computer Aided Facility 
Management System. Officers are continually reporting the lack of repairs and 
maintenance items being place on the system and reports from their planned 

Page 100 Page 102

Agenda Annex



 

preventative maintenance. Officers have had to raise on numerous occasions the 
lack of use of the system. This has in turn caused more Officer time to question the 
history of items that need rectification rather than simply viewing an update via the 
CAFM system 

47. The removal of the Facility Management team throughout the pandemic and relying 
on a Regional Facilities Manager has seen the service of maintenance reporting a 
concern. Direct responsibility remains with the General Managers on site however 
on several occasions throughout the reporting year Officers have had to report its 
lack of use. It has been found items have been added from the Officers audit where 
the council have highlighted an item to be rectified and not their own. 

48. The Customer Experience Department (CED) issues experienced during the 
2020/21 performance year have improved significantly. It was noted that GLL have 
revisited the process of their CED, and services has significantly improved with call 
handling. 

49. The council’s client team carry out performance monitoring visits to ensure that the 
services provided by GLL are in accordance with the contract agreement. The table 
in Annex F shows the scores achieved between April 2021 to March 2022 giving an 
average score throughout the performance year. As monitoring was restricted in the 
previous year either by Covid restrictions or the announcement of visits it was 
difficult to quantify the comparison. However, the results for the year only showing a 
drop in two facilities (Thame Leisure Centre and Wantage Leisure Centre). It must 
be noted in Annex F that Didcot Leisure Centre was no audited until September 
2021. Overall, it has been noticed by Officers an evident improvement has been 
made to the leisure centres and this is reflected in the scoring achieved by those 
facilities. 

50. As part of the contract there has been a significant investment to the reduction of the 
leisure centres’ carbon footprints and to reduce energy consumption. In the 
reporting year GLL and the council introduced LED lighting at Abbey Sports Centre 
and Henley Leisure Centre sports halls. Upgrade also seen at Henley Leisure 
Centre swimming pool from halogen to LED. Further improvements will be reported 
in the future reporting year with the completion of the Faringdon Leisure Centre 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme upgrades to Air Source Heat Pumps and 
Photovoltaic cells. 

51. GLL’s community team are re-engaging with Active Communities Participation Team 
since the pandemic and currently looking at opportunities to engage with partnership 
working. The 2022/23 report will feedback on this delivery since the GLL support 
package agreement.  

52. Based on GLL’s performance, an overall council satisfaction rating of 3.45 has been 
achieved increasing slightly from 3.15 in the previous year. An analysis of council 
satisfaction can be found in Annex C.  

 This places GLL’s score into the category of Fair for this year’s performance.  

53. For reasons of consistency with previous assessments, and for fairness between 
contractors, the following is a rough guide to the assessment of contractors on 
customer satisfaction: 

Page 101 Page 103

Agenda Annex



 

Score <3.0 3.0 – 3.399 3.4 – 3.899 3.9 – 4.299 4.3 – 5.0 

Classification Poor Weak Fair Good Excellent 

      
54. Based on this performance, the head of service has made a judgement on council 

satisfaction as follows: 

  

Council satisfaction judgement Fair 

 

Previous council satisfaction judgement for comparison Weak 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT 

55. It must be noted that the delivery of Dimension 1 has not been possible due to 
circumstances out of GLL’s control and for Officers to deliver. Whilst a consideration 
should be taken to scoring the overall Scrutiny year it must be noted that all 
mechanisms available to Officers could not be scored because of the pandemic. 

56. Considering the performance of the contractor against KPT, customer satisfaction, 
council satisfaction and the other areas of note above the head of service has made 
an overall judgement as follows: 

Council overall satisfaction judgement Good 

 

Previous overall assessment for comparison Weak 

 

STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

57. The following highlights the strengths and areas for improvement relating to the 
performance of the contractor over the last year: 

Strengths 

 GLL’s approach to return to the ‘norm’ after the pandemic is commendable 
and the desire get back to a new and improved operation is evident. 

 General Managers and Partnership Managers remain very approachable 
and willing to help in all situations 

 GLL’s frontline team work well with Officers and always support their work 
where required. This includes making any adjustments to general 
operational working. 

 Teams continue to work well to deliver joint projects including major works 
especially on carbon reducing schemes and building projects 

Areas for improvement 

Page 102 Page 104

Agenda Annex



 

 Timely receipt of finances to enable Officers to track the Open Book 
accounts against the Transition Plan supplied as part of the Support 
Package. 

 Quarterly tracking of the Joint Use Agreement operational cost to enable 
Oxfordshire County Council to account for their costs. 

 GLL centre teams identifying issues in centres rather than the client team 
providing work lists and the control in use of the CAFM system. Using the 
system as a live faults system. 

 Use of the CAFM system in generating up to date service reports from 
GLL’s main contractors so Officers are aware of any immediate faults in 
their assets. 

58. We have worked with GLL to develop an action plan to address areas for 
improvement.  The action plan is attached as Annex B and will be delivered in 
2022/2023. 

CONTRACTOR’S FEEDBACK 

59. A key feature of the process for reviewing the performance of contractors is that the 
council provides them with an opportunity to give their feedback on the assessment, 
including suggestions for improvements to council processes.  This is included in 
Annex E attached to this report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

60. Faringdon Astro Turf Pitch (ATP) has continued to be delayed in its delivery which 
has impacted the revenue delivery of the GLL contract and council revenue. 
Discussions between Property Surveyors and OCC continue to agree the Heads of 
Terms to allow the project to proceed. 

61. The financial implications of its delay in delivery against the Invitation to Submit Final 
Tender are agreed as part of the overall GLL support package taken to council in 
March 2021. 

62. Quarterly Joint Advisory Boards have recommenced since the GLL Support 
Package agreement, and summary presentations from GLL on their financial 
position against their Transition Plan will be delivered. 

63. Annual Scrutiny reviews from 2022/23 will involve a closed session whereby the 
financial accounts for the performance year will be presented to councillors based 
on the Transition Plan submitted as part of the agreed GLL Support Package. 

64. Since the GLL Support Package has been agreed energy prices have been rising at 
an unprecedented rate, members of the public, government, councils, and business 
are all feeling the impact. The estimated impact over 2022 for GLL is £992,879 
increase in utilities between 2019 and 2022 across both South Oxfordshire and the 
Vale of White Horse leisure centres. 80 per cent of the energy costs being related to 
the operation of swimming pools in leisure centres. 

Page 103 Page 105

Agenda Annex



 

65. Officers are working closely with GLL to support with reducing this impact as much 
as possible with various carbon reduction projects. It is hoped that there will be 
further grants from the Government in the near future to enable Officers to apply for 
funding to support reducing the burden of these costs as much as possible. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

66. A reminder that the Deed of Variation provides the contractual legal framework for 
the support package and means through which the Councils would enforce the 
terms upon GLL. The Deed of Variation has been signed to make the legal 
obligations of both parties as clear as possible to mitigate against future disputes on 
these matters and facilitate the continued delivery of the services. 

67. On 29 October 2020, GLL presented officers with a Transition Plan which focused 
on a package of operational and contractual changes to streamline services and 
reduce overheads and operating costs. The Transition Plan is the focus point of 
financial delivery for the remainder of the existing contract. Officers will be regularly 
reporting back on GLL’s current financial performance against the Transition Plan 
supplied. 

CONCLUSION 

68. The contract dealt with more than 2.2 million visits prior to the pandemic each year 
at its peak.  GLL are seeing some positive return rates at some centres as much as 
80-85 per cent. A particular noticeable return is at Didcot Wave Leisure Centre 
where numbers are currently standing at 110 per cent. The closure of Swindon 
Oasis and the improvements made on site by both GLL, and the Council has had a 
very positive impact on the visiting public.  

69. The variety and complexity of the services provided by GLL demonstrate the size 
and scale of the task to meet thousands of customer needs and expectations. The 
impact of Covid-19 has decimated this position however GLL continue to strive to 
achieve a pre-pandemic position of visitor numbers. The return numbers will be part 
of performance reporting from 2022/23 onwards. 

70. With the recent changes the pandemic leaves the contract in a difficult position when 
establishing measurable outcomes. Officers are reflecting on the scoring by tracking 
data supplied by GLL and reviewing during Operational Meetings. 

71. Considering the performance of the contractor unable to report on KPT’s. The only 
measurable dimensions are Dimension 2 and Dimension 3, the head of service has 
made an overall judgement based on GLL achieving a ‘Good’. 

72. The head of service has assessed GLLs overall performance as ‘Good’ for its 
delivery of the leisure management contract for 2021/22.  The committee is asked to 
make any comments to the Cabinet Members with responsibility for leisure to 
enable them to make a final assessment on performance by way of an individual 
Cabinet Member Decision, and to take into account the circumstances by way of 
how difficult the delivery of the contract was for this reporting Scrutiny year. 

73. If the committee does not agree with the head of service assessment, then this 
report will be referred to Cabinet and a final assessment of GLLs performance 
made. 

Page 104 Page 106

Agenda Annex



 

 

Page 105 Page 107

Agenda Annex



 

ANNEX A – CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 

 

   

Overall 

ACCESS   

1 Ease of getting through on telephone 3.94 

2 Time Spent at Reception  4.40 

3 Ease of booking and paying at reception 4.47 

4 Ease of booking and paying online 4.44 

5 Range of activities available 4.40 

6 Opening Hours of centre 4.47 

7 Times activities are available 4.40 

8 Ease of Parking 4.42 

9 If Fast track pods were available, how useful were they 4.64 

FACILITIES / SERVICES   

10 Availability of product information 4.34 

11 Quality of available information on websites 4.33 

12 Quality of customer information available 4.41 

13 Water quality of pool 4.54 

14 Quality of temperature of pool and pool hall 4.40 

15 Quality and range of activity equipment available 4.54 

16 Quality of lighting in activity area 4.52 

17 Quality of flooring in activity area 4.42 

18 Quality of artificial turf pitches 4.48 

19 Quality and range of clothing and equipment available 4.34 

FOOD / DRINK   

20 Range available 4.00 

21 Quality available 4.00 

22 Value for money 4.00 

23 Reliability of service 5.00 

CLEANLINESS   

24 Changing Facilities 4.45 

25 Toilet Facilities 4.44 

26 Activity Area 4.46 

27 Café area if applicable 4.63 

28 

 

Reception Area 4.47 

29   Cleanliness of inside of centre as a whole 4.50 

30   Cleanliness of outside of centre as a whole 4.43 

CENTRE STAFF   

31 Visibility of professional, well presented, and uniformed staff 4.49 

32 Helpfulness and knowledge of staff 4.47 

33 Motivation and enthusiasm of coach/instructor 4.45 

34 If staff were available, were they able to assist you fully 4.45 

Page 106 Page 108

Agenda Annex



 

VALUE FOR MONEY   

35 Value for money of activities 4.38 

36 Overall satisfaction with your visit today 4.56 

Average Score 4.42 

 
There has been no report provided by GLL on the customer satisfaction. The service 
delivery changed to a Customer Experience Department (CED) led by GLL Head Office. 
All direct enquiries and complaints have been handled via this service and removed from 
the leisure centre operation. 
 
Feedback received directly by the councils 
 

Type of Complaint  TOTAL 

Cleanliness 10 

Communication (website/phones) 9 

Membership issues  4 

Staff 2 

Noise  9 

Booking issues  15 

R&M  5 

Misc.  - complaint on numerous 
issues  

1 

Late opening / opening times  5 

Safeguarding 1 

TOTAL 61 
 

Positive Comments  TOTAL  

Staff 11 

Facility  1 

TOTAL 12 
 
In 2021/22 the number of complaints made to the councils totalled 61 and the compliments 
received by the councils numbered 12. A comparison of this is 2020/21 reporting year 
there were 39 complaints and 1 compliment. In comparison 2019/20 the council received 
52 complaints and 3 compliments as a comparison. The leisure centres were open from 12 
April 2021 and Didcot Leisure Centre and Abbey Sports Centre swimming pool opened in 
September 2021. 
 
18 of the complaints were made about Wantage Leisure Centre with a majority being 
about cleanliness. Officers issued a Warning Notice on 7 April 2022 as this was 
reciprocated with a drop in audit scores during the performance period. 
 
The positive news is compliments were at their highest in 2021/22 reporting year seeing 
10 compliments being made specifically at Riverside Outdoor Pool, Splash Pad and 
Campsite. 
 
Five years ago, GLL introduced a new customer feedback mechanism called Listen 360 
which encourage customers to feedback on their whole experience. Unfortunately, this has 

Page 107 Page 109

Agenda Annex



 

been removed as a service with no current intention on its return. Whilst this is not 
contractual this service did assist with immediate feedback from customers. This service 
did encourage customers to actively feedback on their experiences which allows leisure 
centres teams to deal with issues in a proactive manor. The number of complaints to the 
councils has increased and could be an indicator due to its removal. 

Page 108 Page 110

Agenda Annex



 

Annex B – Action plan for 2022/23 

 

Action Owner Due date 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

Council 2022/23 

Refurbishment of the 
campsite changing 
rooms at Riverside, 
Wallingford 

Council 2022/23 

WHLTC upgrade of 
pool lighting and car 
park to LED 

GLL/Council 2022/23 

WHLTC dry side 
disabled ramp and 
changing places facility 
to the Sports Hall 

Council 2022/23 

Replace the splash 
pad and associated 
plant at Riverside, 
Wallingford 

Council 2022/23 

Replace gym 
equipment at Henley 
Leisure Centre 

GLL/Council 2022/23 

Replace gym 
equipment at Didcot 
Wave Leisure Centre 

GLL/Council 2022/23 

Upgrade Wantage 
Leisure Centre 
swimming pool lights to 
LED 

Council 2022/23 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance issues 
in every centre and 
PPM schedules 

GLL Immediate 

Improve Access 
Control Security at 
White Horse LC 

GLL/Council 2022/23 

Improved Access 
Control Security at 
Didcot Wave Leisure 
Centre and Thame 
Leisure Centre 

GLL 2022/23 

Replace the Henley 
Leisure Centre sauna 
and steam room 

Council 2022/23 

Replacement of both 
Combined Heat and 
Power units at Thame 

Council  2022/23 

Page 109 Page 111

Agenda Annex



 

Leisure Centre and 
WHLTC 

 
 

Action Plan Outcomes for 2021/22 

 

Action Owner Due date Update 

Refurbish changing 
rooms and sports hall 
floor at Abbey Sports 
Centre 

Council 2021/22 Awaiting legal 
approval for the 

works to proceed 
with OCC consent 

Replace gas boiler 
system at Faringdon 
LC with ASHP’s and 
Solar PV 

Council 2021/22 Due to complete 
August 2022 

WHLTC upgrade of 
pool lighting to LED 

GLL/Council 2021/22 Works commence 
25 July 2022 

WHLTC dry side 
disabled ramp and 
changing places facility 
to the Sports Hall 

Council 2021/22 Alternative design 
being arranged due 
to the complexities 
of installation and 

loss of space. 

Replace gym flooring 
at Didcot Wave 

Council 2021/22 Completed 

Improved 
communication to 
residents via social 
media/website and 
direct contact through 
enquiries and phone 
calls 

GLL Immediate Ongoing 

Improve Identification 
of maintenance and 
issues in every centre 

GLL Immediate Ongoing – 
Identification of 

maintenance still a 
concern in reporting 

Improve Access 
Control Security at 
White Horse LC 

GLL/Council 2021/22 Awaiting 
specifications from 
GLL on the concept 

of the project 

Upgrade Sports Hall 
lighting to LED Abbey 
SC and Henley LC 

Council 2021/22 Completed 

Refurbish Didcot Wave 
filters 

Council  2021/22 Completed 

 

Annex C – Council Satisfaction for 2020/21 

 
This assessment allows the council (as a client) to record its own satisfaction with aspects 
of a contractor’s performance which lie outside Key Performance Targets and customer 

Page 110 Page 112

Agenda Annex



 

satisfaction.  Each officer with direct knowledge and who frequently interacts with the 
contractor should complete this form.  Some questions can be left blank if the officer does 
not have direct knowledge of that question. 
 
The numbers indicated in the following table are the average scores resulting from the 
total number of responses received for each question 
 
Contractor  GLL 

 
From (date) 1 April 2021 To 31 March 2022 

 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfie
d 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfie
d 

(1) Very 
dissatisfie
d 

       1 Understanding of the client's needs   3.50   

       2 Response time   3.00   

       3 Delivers to time   3.00   

    
4 

   4 Delivers to budget  4.00    

       5 Efficiency of invoicing    2.00  

       6 Approach to health & safety   3.75   

                
 

COMMUNICATIONS AND RELATIONS 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

              7 Easy to deal with  4.00    

       8 Communication/Keeping Client Informed   3.25   

       9 Quality of written documentation  4.00    

       10 Compliance with council’s corporate 

identity 

  3.67   

 

IMPROVEMENT AND INNOVATION 

 Attribute (5) Very 
satisfied 

(4) 
Satisfied 

(3) 
Neither 

(2) Dis-
satisfied 

(1) Very 
dissatisfied 

       11 Listening   3.67   

       12 Quality of relationship   3.20   

       13 Offers suggestions beyond the scope of   3.33   

Page 111 Page 113

Agenda Annex



 

work 

       14 Degree of innovation   3.67   

       15 Goes the extra mile  4.00    

       16 
 
 
17 
 
 
18 

Supports the council’s sustainability 

objectives 

Supports the council’s equality objectives 

 

Degree of partnership working 

 4.00  
 
 
 
 
 

3.50 

 
 
 

2.25 

 

       

 
 
The following table details all the scores obtained from officers to provide the council 
satisfaction based on the fully completed questionnaires 

Rating  Votes  Score 
equivalent 

Total 
 

Very satisfied 1 X5 5 

Satisfied 26 X4 104 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

22 X3 66 

Dissatisfied 4 X2 8 

Very dissatisfied  0 X1 0 

    

Total 53  183 

 
The overall council satisfaction is calculated as follows:  183 ÷ 53 = 3.45 (refers to point 56 
and 57 in the report) 
 
 

KEY DOCUMENTS 

If required, has the contractor provided the council with annual updates of the following 
documents? 
   1. Updated equalities information              (Yes)  

   2. Updated utility information                     (Yes)  

   3.      Updated WAM information                    (Yes) 
 
4.      Updated and signed financial accounts (Yes) 

 

  

 
 

Page 112 Page 114

Agenda Annex



 

Annex D – Community Activities 

September 2021 
Swimathon 2021 
During the weekend of 10th – 12th September swimming pools across South Oxfordshire 
and Vale of White Horse took part in Swimathon, the world’s biggest fundraising swim!  
  
Post Covid the centres saw a drop off in normal numbers which is to be expected. Details 
below: 
  

 16 individuals and 12 teams took part across the two partnerships 
 Swimming pools taking part: White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre, Faringdon 

Leisure Centre, Wantage Leisure Centre and Didcot Wave Leisure Pool and Gym 
 Staff teams taking part and an appearance from Better Man. 

 
 
June 2022 
GSF Awards South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse 
 
The GSF Applications opened for 2022-2023 and the following awards were made: 
 
South Oxfordshire: 
Total: 84 funded athletes, 
 
Vale Of White Horse: 
Total: 60 funded athletes. 
 
The awards included free access to facilities and some financial funding.   
The plan is for the awards ceremony to return fully in September 2022.  
 
 
 
 

Page 113 Page 115

Agenda Annex



 

UKactive Awards August 2021 
 
White Horse Leisure & Tennis Centre were entered into the following category for the UK 
Active Awards: 

 Inclusion and Disability Award 

 The centre was awarded a Highly Commended status from this.  

 
 
 
August 2021 

I am Team GB Open Day August White Horse Leisure and Tennis Centre 

 

Inspired by the achievements of Team GB athletes and the amazing efforts of local 

community heroes, I Am Team GB has created the Nation’s Biggest Sports Day, which 

took place. With numerous free activities in the centre.  

 

 
 
Quest 
Following the pandemic Quest has been re-introduced and the following centres have 
undergone the Recovery Assessment and maintained their previous ratings. 
 

 The White Horse Leisure & Tennis Centre: Excellent 

 Faringdon Leisure Centre: Very Good  

 Henley Leisure Centre: Very Good.  

 
 
 
 

Page 114 Page 116

Agenda Annex



 

Oxfordshire Lawn Tennis Association Awards 2022 
 

 Sue Auger was awarded the Oxfordshire Disability Programming Award.  

 This was awarded due to the diverse and inclusive tennis programme, sessions 

include (Wheelchair tennis, Walking Tennis, Visual Impairment Tennis & Downs 

Syndrome tennis). 

 

 
 
Media & PR 
 

 Outdoor Fitness Classes launched March 29th, 2021-Piece on local BBC South 

News & Channel 4 News, 

 BBC Radio Oxford –Restart 3 Launch Day Interview, Indoor Fitness Classes 

returning, May 2022, Learn to swim week interview, Adam Balls Fitness Journey, 

(Summer 2021), 

 Channel 4 Paralympic Coverage- Jordanne Whilley (Summer 2021), Swimathon, I 

Am Team GB, Covid Vaccination Scheme, Summer Olympic Games, Give a Gift 

Appeal (Multiple sites and interviews), GLL Sports Foundation. 

 Lido Ladies visit to Abbey Meadows. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115 Page 117

Agenda Annex



 

 
Spennylympics:  Summer 2021 
 

 Home to Spennylympics. Provided free access to the facilities for training for their 

challenge of competing in every Olympic Sport in the Olympic Games,  

 Significant media coverage on BBC 6pm News, Japanese TV, CBS News, BBC 

South News and many more.  

 
 

Didcot Refugee Swim and Sport Sessions – October 2021 
 
In October 2021 Long Wittenham CofE Primary School were approached by Oxfordshire 
County Council Admissions asking if they would accept some refugees to join classes for 
the new term.  
 
There are 100 Afghan Refugees currently living outside Didcot, as part of the curriculum 
they have included 7 of their children in the weekly swimming lessons that the school 
attend at Didcot Wave.  
 
The swim teachers were briefed prior to the lessons starting and all of them were keen to 
help integrate the children into swimming lessons.  
 
It was the first time some of the children had experienced swimming in a leisure pool, but 
they all enjoyed the experience. 
 
 
Marketing Campaign 
 

County wide marketing campaign (attached) running throughout January & February 
including Bus Stops, Roadside & Supermarket advertising utilising Display Screens 
targeting every Better centre throughout Oxfordshire. 
 Locations include Abingdon, Wantage, Faringdon, Thame, Didcot, Henley, 

Windrush, Carterton and Chipping Norton 
 Supermarkets featured included Waitrose, Tesco, and Sainsbury’s with Display 

Screens throughout Westgate Oxford shopping mall. 
 Online and print media campaigns carried out within Round&About & Primary 

Times magazines plus online NetMums and Daysoutwiththekids. 
 High visibility shopfront marketing in place across all 7 centres with effective use of 

roadside banners, storm boards and flags to signpost customers to venue locations. 
 Bespoke Sky TV advertising campaign started 1st Feb – 28th Feb filmed on 

location at White Horse, Carterton & Thame Leisure Centres – providing H&F and 
L&C adverts across all Sky/Virgin Channels with additional social media cuts to 
allow targeted campaigns to be   
delivered locally.  

 

Page 116 Page 118

Agenda Annex



 

January – March 2022 Marketing  
 

 
 
 
BBC Radio Oxford-Give a Gift Campaign – January 2022 
 
GLL leisure centres across Oxfordshire, in the Vale of White Horse, and South Oxfordshire 
have all come together to support BBC Radio Oxford’s Give a Gift Appeal. 

The campaign which ran from Boxing Day until Monday 17th January was collecting 
unwanted Christmas gifts from across the county to raise money for children in need. The 
centres in Oxfordshire acted as collection points for the residents to donate their unwanted 
Christmas presents. Every shape, size and possible gift were donated to the appeal which 
saw centres receive good levels of donations with over 350 coming into The White Horse 
alone. The donations will be sold in aid of children in need in Templars Square, Oxford in 
February. Of the 16 collection points in Oxfordshire, Better were 11 of them. 

Page 117 Page 119

Agenda Annex



 

The appeal drove non-members into our centres for the first time and has led to members 
of The BBC Team now joining their closest Better leisure centre after visiting them for this 
campaign. 

It has led to significant additional free coverage of our brand at the start of a key period 
with both airtime and coverage on Radio Oxford’s social media channels. 

Significant PR coverage was gained by a combination of live outdoor broadcasts and 
prerecords. 

 

 
 
Aqua Coffee Launch – February 2022 
 
Didcot Wave launched a new hot drink offering by inviting 50 participants of the weekly 
aqua aerobics class to trial and launch the instant coffee option, feedback has been 
fantastic with participants pre-ordering drinks weeks in advance. 
 

 
 
 

 

Annex E - Contractor 360° feedback 

CONTRACTOR’S REACTION / FEEDBACK ON COUNCIL’S ASSESSMENT 

GLL believes that the Overall Score should not be applied for any period where ALL 

three Dimensions can not be scored for the year in full, in order to ensure a fair 

balanced result is achieved. 

 

Dimension 1 – KPT’s  

Page 118 Page 120

Agenda Annex



 

Not scored – Discussions around future KPT’s are ongoing. 
 

Dimension 2 – Customer Satisfaction 

GLL is proud of the overall score of “Excellence” with the average of 4.42. This was 
especially pleasing in light of the changes enforced on GLL during the period of 
government restrictions, and we are confident GLL can continue to improve our customers 
experience going forward. 
 

Dimension 3 – Council Satisfaction 

 
GLL is pleased that the council have acknowledged the improvements within the Customer 
Experience Department resulting in improved call handing and that the developments to 
the website and Better App have reduced complaints and has been resolved as a concern 
to council.  
 
We were surprised to note that officers found it very difficult to communicate with front line 
staff during the restrictions. GLL has worked hard to ensure that its management teams 
are customer facing to support service improvements and centre / general managers 
remained working in periods of lockdown to support in the operation of joint use facilities 
which remained open throughout for education purposes.  
 
GLL is pleased to see Facility Inspection scores improve, especially in light of the periods 
of enforced closure and many service contractors taking advantage of government 
furlough schemes which resulted in a backlog of servicing requirements and additional 
reactive maintenance tasks required in this year which GLL have fulfilled. 
 
Whilst officers have cited frustrations around financial information being very delayed, 
especially OCC joint use accounts. GLL would like to highlight the additional complexities 
around the joint use facilities remaining open throughout lockdowns and that these 
accounts were submitted within a reasonable timescale following closure of year end 
accounts which were slightly delayed due to reconciling CJRS Scheme claims. 
 
GLL is pleased that council believes that the relationship continues to improve during what 
has been challenging times for all parties involved and we continue to look forward to 
building the relationship further. 
 
Feedback provided by Luke Askew & Kevin Williams Date 25.08.22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119 Page 121

Agenda Annex



 

Annex F – Client Monitoring Scores 

 

 Contract Year 7           

  2021/2022 
 

         

CENTRES 

Client 
Monitoring 

Client 
Monitoring Variance 

 
         Apr-21 Apr-22 

         Abbey SC 85.2% 93.9% 8.7% 
 

                 
 

         Didcot LC 87.6% 90.7% 3.1% DLC re-opened from lockdown in Sept 2021  

        
 

         Wave 90.0% 96.5% 6.5% 
 

                 
 

         Henley LC 84.4% 94.9% 10.5% 
 

                 
 

         Park SC 86.8% 91.0% 4.2% 
 

                 
 

         Thame LC 93% 92.7% -0.3% 
 

                 
 

         Faringdon LC 88% 93.5% 5.5% 
 

                 
 

         Wantage LC 90.4% 86.8% -3.6% 
 

                 
 

         WHLTC 88.9% 91.8% 2.9% 
 

                 
 

           Jul-21 Aug-21   
 

         Abbey Meadows  94.4% 98.6% 4.2% 
 

                 
 

           Jun-21 Aug-21   
 

         Riverside 91.8% 91.8% 0.0% 
 

                 
 

          
 

Page 120 Page 122

Agenda Annex


	Agenda
	 meeting pack
	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Saba car park contract performance 2021-22
	8 Biffa waste contract performance 2021
	9 GLL (Leisure) annual performance reports 2019 to 2022
	GLL scrutiny review 2020 2021 SMT and Cabinet Member Reviewed - Final 09.09.22
	GLL Scrutiny Review 2021 2022 SMT and Cabinet Reviewed - Final 09.09.22



